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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)
GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.
Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.
This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Ocean Star Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group is one of the leading retailers of lingerie with shaping functions in Hong Kong, with production facilities in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date
of this report, the Group is principally engaged in the designing, manufacturing and sales of core lingerie products
under the core brand of “Bodibra” and sub-brands, namely “June”, “ooobiki”, “Bodicare” and “invisi”. The Group
principally offers a wide range of the Group’s own branded lingerie that are designed with shaping functions which
aim to achieve better body appearances, including bras and panties, body shaping underwear and chest support
vests. The Group also (1) sells other products without shaping functions, which primarily include breast cream,
panties, nude bras, swimwear, bras straps and pads, and waist bands; and (2) provides beauty services.
Since the outbreak of the novel coronavirus pneumonia (the “COVID-19 pandemic”) in 2020, the travelling
arrangements among Hong Kong, the PRC, Macau and the foreign countries have been almost suspended, the retail
market and economies of Hong Kong have been seriously affected. Following the ease of the COVID-19 pandemic
and gradual release of the prevention and control measures in Hong Kong, a sign of slight recovery in consumer
sentiment in Hong Kong appeared and there was a hope that the travelling arrangement between Hong Kong and
the PRC would be resumed in the second half of 2021. Unfortunately, at the beginning of 2022, as the COVID-19
pandemic explodes again in Hong Kong together with the spread of new Omicron COVID-19 variant, such hope of
resuming the travelling arrangements were shattered and the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region restored a series of precautionary and control measures, which have inevitably affected the local retail
market.
The Board of the directors of the Company (the “Board”) noticed such downturn in the local retail market at the
beginning of 2022 and promptly retightened the cost control measures to deal with the challenging environment. The
Board also promptly decided to arrange the placing of new shares of the Company (the “Placing”) to strengthen the
liquidity of the Group. With the sincere support of the shareholders, the Placing was successfully completed in March
2022.

PROSPECTS
The Board considers that the local retail market will remain difficult and challenging. The Board will (1) closely
monitor the day-to-day operation and management of the business and tighten the cost control measures to reduce
the adverse impacts on the Group’s operation and financial performance caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic; (2)
optimize the resource allocation to upgrade the core lingerie products and develop new and fashionable lingerie
products according to consumer needs; (3) invest in developing the e-commerce exclusive lingerie products and the
online shopping market; and (4) proactively seek for potential business opportunities. The Board believes that these
measures will bring positive effects on the Group’s financial performance and increase the value for shareholders in
the long run.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s revenue principally represents income derived from (1) sales of
lingerie products and other complementary and ancillary products; and (2) provision of beauty services recorded a
total amount of approximately HK$46.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately 12.7% compared with the
revenue of approximately HK$53.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 as a result of the decrease in revenue
due to weak retail sales caused by the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
The Group’s cost of sales recorded approximately HK$12.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing an
increase of approximately 8.0% compared with the cost of sales of approximately HK$11.2 million for the year ended
31 March 2021. The increase in cost of sales was primarily due to the increase in staff cost, the depreciation of rightof-use assets and the purchases of raw materials.
The gross profit decreased by approximately 18.2% from approximately HK$42.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2021 to approximately HK$34.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Selling Expenses
The Group’s selling expenses increased by approximately HK$3.5 million from approximately HK$19.4 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$22.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, which was mainly
due to the increase in marketing expenses, staff costs and rental and related expenses.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses
The Group’s administrative and other operating expenses increased by approximately HK$1.5 million from
approximately HK$17.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$19.2 million. For the year
ended 31 March 2022, which was primarily due to the increase in staff costs and legal and professional fees.

(Loss)/profit before Tax
As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately HK$18.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 compared with a profit before tax of approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2021, which was mainly due to (1) the decrease in sales volume, the Government grants under the Employment
Support Scheme and the COVID-19 rent concession received granted by landlords; (2) the increase in staff cost,
marketing expenses and rental and related expenses; (3) the increase in the impairment loss recognised on
investment in associates, goodwill and right-of-use assets; and (4) the increase in allowance and write-off recognised
for inventories, deposits, prepayment and other receivables.

Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense decreased to approximately HK$136,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

(Loss)/profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Company
As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, the Group had recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$18.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, compared with a profit attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$3.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. This was mainly
attributable to (1) the decrease in sales volume, the Government grants under the Employment Support Scheme
and the COVID-19 rent concession received granted by landlords; (2) the increase in staff cost, marketing expenses
and rental and related expenses; (3) the increase in the impairment loss recognised on investment in associates,
goodwill and right-of-use assets; and (4) the increase in allowance and write-off recognised for inventories, deposits,
prepayment and other receivables.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

RESULTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The Group’s total assets increased by approximately HK$33.8 million to approximately HK$95.5 million as at 31 March
2022 (2021: approximately HK$61.7 million).
The Group’s total liabilities decreased by approximately HK$1.5 million to approximately HK$88.9 million as at 31
March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$90.4 million).
The equity attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately HK$35.3 million to approximately
HK$6.6 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$28.7 million deficiency).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$15.1 million (31 March 2021:
approximately HK$55.1 million). The Group had cash and bank balances of approximately HK$21.9 million as at 31
March 2022 (31 March 2021: approximately HK$3.7 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the year, there has been no change in the capital structure of the Group. The share capital of the Group only
comprises of ordinary shares.
As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$6,300,000 of HK$0.01 each and the number of its
issued ordinary shares was 630,000,000.
Details of changes in the Company’s share capital for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GEARING RATIO
Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total debts divided by total equity at the respective reporting date. As at 31
March 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was 77% (31 March 2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS/MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
There was no significant investment held by the Company or material acquisition and disposal made by the Company
during the year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS
The Group currently has no plans for material investments or capital assets.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 110 full-time employees (31 March 2021: 105 full-time employees). The total
staff cost amounted to approximately HK$23.3 million (2021: HK$19.6 million). Remuneration packages offered
to the Group’s employees are consistent with the prevailing market terms and are reviewed on a regular basis.
Discretionary bonuses may be awarded to employees taking into consideration the Group’s performance and that of
the individual employee.
Pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations, the Group has participated in relevant defined contribution
retirement schemes administrated by the responsible government authorities in Macau and the PRC for its
employees in Macau and the PRC. For the Group’s employees in Hong Kong, all the arrangements pursuant to the
mandatory provident fund requirements prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) have been duly implemented.

(i)

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong
In compliance with the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme of the Group (the “MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution plan administered by an
independent corporate trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and the employees are required to
make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions made to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

(ii) Employees of the Group in Macau
The Group participates social benefit scheme which is Social Security Benefits under the Social Security Fund of
Government of the Macau SAR (the “Macau Scheme”). The Macau Scheme is the first tier of the two-tier social
security system under the Macau SAR Law No. 4/2010 (Social Security System) effective on 1 January 2011.
The current social security coverage covers all residents in Macau SAR to allow them to receive basic old-age
security. As stipulated in the Executive Order of Macau SAR with effect from 1 January 2017, the contribution
amounts for the long-term employee are MOP90 per month (employer’s contribution: MOP60, employee’s
contribution: MOP30). In accordance with the provisions of Macau SAR Law No. 4/2010, the employer can
deduct the employee’s portion of contributions from his/her wages.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

(iii) Employees of the Group in the PRC
Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, employees of the Group in the PRC
participated in the central pension scheme (the “PRC Scheme”), which is a defined contribution plan
administered by the PRC government, whereby the Group is required to make contributions to the PRC
Scheme based on certain percentages of the eligible employees’ salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. Contributions made to the PRC
Scheme vest immediately.
The Group’s contributions under the abovementioned defined contribution plans in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC
are expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the defined
contribution plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Macau Pataca and Renminbi, being in the functional currencies
of the Group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. Management monitors
foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arises. As at 31 March 2022, the Directors considered the Group’s foreign exchange risk remained minimal.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have other material capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any other mortgage or charge over its assets, except for the pledged
bank deposits to secure business credit card of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, no other material subsequent events
undertaken by the Company or by the Group after the reporting period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE
Placing completed on 30 April 2021 (the “Placing 1”)
Reference is made the announcement issued by the Company on 15 April 2021 and 30 April 2021 in relation the
placing of new shares under the general mandates.
On 15 April 2021, the Group and a placing agent entered into a placing agreement pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best effort basis, up to 48,000,000 placing shares at
the placing price of HK$0.86 per placing shares to not less than six places who and whose beneficial owners shall be
independent third parties.
The Placing 1 was completed on 30 April 2021 with gross and net proceeds of approximately HK$41.28 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.86 per placing shares) and HK$40.80 million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.85
per placing share) as set out in the Company’s announcements dated 15 April 2021 and 30 April 2021. The Company
intended to use the proceeds for (i) future development of the existing business of the Group and (ii) general working
capital of the Group.
Planned use of
proceeds as
described in the
announcement
dated
15 April 2021
HK$’million

Actual use of
net proceeds
up to
31 March 2022
HK$’million

Unused total
net proceeds
up to
31 March 2022
HK$’million

Future development of the existing business
Working capital

30.00
10.88

23.90
10.88

6.10
–

Total

40.88

34.78

6.10

Use of net proceeds from the Placing 1
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Placing completed on 28 March 2022 (the “Placing 2”)
Reference is made the announcement issued by the Company on 1 March 2022 and 28 March 2022 in relation the
placing of new shares under the general mandates.
On 1 March 2022, the Group and a placing agent entered into a placing agreement pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best effort basis, up to 102,000,000 placing shares
at the placing price of HK$0.130 per placing shares to not less than six places who and whose beneficial owners shall
be independent third parties.
The Placing 1 was completed on 28 March 2022 with gross and net proceeds of approximately HK$13.26 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$0.130 per placing shares) and HK$13.05 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$0.128 per placing share) as set out in the Company’s announcements dated 1 March 2022 and 28 March 2022.
The Company intended to use the proceeds for general working capital of the Group.

Use of net proceeds from the Placing 2

Working capital
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Planned use of
proceeds as
described in the
announcement
dated
1 March 2022
HK$’million

Actual use of
net proceeds
up to
31 March 2022
HK$’million

Unused total
net proceeds
up to
31 March 2022
HK$’million

13.05

–

13.05

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Tam Chak Chi (“Mr. Tam”), aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director in December 2018. Mr. Tam is
a member of each of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Board. He is also the company
secretary and compliance officer of the Company.
Mr. Tam holds a bachelor’s degree of commerce from the University of Toronto. He is a fellow member of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a member of each of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Chartered Global Management Accountant. Mr. Tam has more than 15 years of experience in providing
accounting, auditing and financial services and has served various senior positions at various private and listed
companies. He is currently an independent non-executive director of Wisdom Wealth Resources Investment Holding
Group Limited (formerly known as Hong Kong Finance Investment Holding Group Limited) (stock code: 00007), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Further, he is currently an independent nonexecutive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (stock code: 8269) and AL Group Limited (stock code: 8360), the
respective shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, and a financial consultant of various private
companies.
Mr. Xu Xue (“Mr. Xu”), aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director in May 2020. Mr. Xu is a member of each
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Board.
Mr. Xu graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Education* (陝西教育學院) (now known as Shaanxi Xueqian Normal
University) in the People’s Republic of China in 1996, majoring in history education. Mr. Xu has more than 20 years of
management experience in manufacturing and electronics sectors and has been the founder of and served various
senior positions in various private companies. He was previously an executive director of Republic Healthcare Limited
(stock code: 8357) from 21 November 2018 to 15 August 2019, its shares are listed on the GEM.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Tang Yiu Kay (“Mr. Tang”), aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in June
2021. Mr. Tang is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Board.
Mr. Tang holds a master degree in financial services and society and a bachelor degree in financial management
and accounting. Mr. Tang is currently a practicing member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 15 years of solid experiences in tax issues, internal control, auditing, financial accounting and business
management. Mr. Tang is currently a director of Good Chance CPA Limited. He is primarily responsible for providing
consultancy services on tax and audit issues to clients in Hong Kong. Mr. Tang also has professional expertise and
extensive experience in financial management and accounting in listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Tang has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director and chairman of each of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of China Properties Investment Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 736) with
effect from 3 June 2021. Further, he has been appointed as an independent non-executive director and chairman of
the audit committee of Bay Area Gold Group Limited (Stock Code: 1194) with effect from 26 August 2021.

*

For identification purpose only
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Directors and Senior Management (continued)

Mr. Tong Zhu (“Mr. Tong”), aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September 2021.
Mr. Tong is a member of each of the audit committee remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Board.
Mr. Tong graduated at University of Electronic Science and Technology in People’s Republic of China with a bachelor
degree in business management. He was assessed as an economist by Personnel Department of Guangdong
Province (廣東省人事廳) in 2000. He had over 30 years financial and project management experience and work
experience in companies listed in Shenzhen and Hong Kong.
Mr. Lai Kim Fung (“Mr. Lai”), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, chairman of
each of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee, and a member of the audit committee.
Mr. Lai holds a postgraduate certificate in Professional Accounting from City University of Hong Kong and master
of business administration from University of Exeter in the United Kingdom. Mr. Lai, previously worked in various
international banks and investment banks, has over 28 years of professional experience with commercial and
investment banking, corporate finance, treasury, merger and acquisition and investment management focusing on
the Great China. Mr. Lai also worked for China Tourism Group Co., Ltd., a state-owned enterprise of the People’s
Republic of China, and its subsidiaries for 19 years. He served as the vice president of CTS Investment Inc. USA, and
was one of the founding members of China Travel Service Financial Holdings Co., Ltd..
Mr. Lai is currently the chairman of Industry Development Committee of Hong Kong Society of Artificial Intelligence
and Robotics, a member of the Hangzhou’s Political Consultative Conference and the founding member of China
Mergers and Acquisitions Association (Hong Kong) Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of the
China Aviation Flying Shark Global Credit Fund, a fund under AVIC Capital International Holding Co., Ltd..
Mr. Lai also has positions in listed companies, he is currently (i) an independent non-executive director of Goldstone
Investment Group Limited (stock code: 901), the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
and (ii) an independent director of Dragon Victory International Limited (NASDAQ: LYL), the shares of which are listed
on The Nasdaq Capital Market. He was an executive director and a chief executive officer of the DTXS Silk Road
Investment Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 620), the shares of which are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, since 7 August 2017 and re-designated to be an executive director and a co-chief executive officer
on 16 June 2020 until 31 August 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Fok Wai Hung (“Mr. Fok”), aged 45, is the financial controller of the Group. Mr. Fok is responsible for the
overall financial management and reporting and the corporate secretarial matters of the Group. He joined the Group
in December 2014 as finance manager of My Heart Bodibra Limited (formerly known as My Heart Lingerie Limited),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Fok has over 13 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Fok is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
INTRODUCTION
The Board is committed to achieve high standards of corporate governance by emphasising transparency,
independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness. The Board strives to ensure that effective self-regulatory
practices exist to protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance
long-term Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company has adopted the principles of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2022 (the “Period”), except for the deviations as specified below. The Board will keep reviewing and updating
such practices from time to time to ensure compliance with legal and commercial standards.
Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The Company has not appointed chief executive officer and chairman since
27 October 2017 and 6 February 2018 respectively. The roles and functions of chief executive officer and chairman
have been performed by all the executive Directors collectively. The Board will keep reviewing its current structure
from time to time and will appoint chief executive officer and chairman if the Board considers appropriate and
necessary.
Under Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should attend general meetings and to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
During the Period, Mr. Xu Xue, the executive Director, and Ms. Yuan Xiaoxi, Mr. Deng Guo Hong and Mr. Tang Yiu
Kay, the independent non-executive Directors, did not attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20
August 2021 due to other prior business engagements.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULES 5.05(1),
5.05(2), 5.28 AND 5.34 OF THE GEM LISTING RULES
Following the resignation of Mr. Ong King Keung (“Mr. Ong”) as independent non-executive Director on 11 May
2021, the Company only had two independent non-executive Directors and thus the number of the independent nonexecutive Directors fell below the minimum number required under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules. According
to Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, at least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise (the “Qualification”),
and, there would be no independent non-executive Director who has the Qualification as required under Rule 5.05(2)
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had also failed to comply with (i) the requirements set out in Rule 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules that the audit committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least one of whom is
an independent non-executive director with the Qualification and must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director; and (ii) the requirements set out in Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules that the remuneration committee
must comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors.
Mr. Tang Yiu Kay (“Mr. Tang”), who has the Qualification, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 18 June 2021, which was within three months from the date of resignation of Mr. Ong as required by Rules 5.06
and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Upon the appointment of Mr. Tang as independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2021, the Company has
satisfied the requirements under Rule 5.05(1) and Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. In addition, the Company had
complied with the requirements set out under Rule 5.28 and Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules with regard to the
composition of the audit committee and remuneration committee respectively.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors (the “Code of
Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard Dealings”). The Company had also made specific enquiry of the Directors
and to the best knowledge and the information available to the Board, each of them was in compliance with the
Code of Conduct and Required Standard Dealings during the Period. Further, the Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard of dealings regarding securities transactions by the Directors during the
Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Company, including but not limited to
formulating and approving the overall strategies and business performance of the Company, monitoring the financial
performance and internal control as well as overseeing the risk management system of the Company and monitoring
the performance of senior executives. The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including the development and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
Directors have full access to all relevant information affecting the Group and may take independent professional
advice, which will be paid by the Company as appropriate.
The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. The Board is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is accountable to the
Shareholders for the strategic development of the Group with the goal of maximising long-term Shareholder value,
while balancing broader stakeholder interests.
As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of five Directors including two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. At least one-third of the Board are independent non-executive Directors and
at least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Board members as at the date of this annual report are:
Executive Directors:
Mr. Tam Chak Chi (Compliance officer)
Mr. Xu Xue
Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tong Zhu (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Mr. Lai Kim Fung (appointed on 5 January 2022)
Mr. Tang Yiu Kay (appointed on 18 June 2021)
Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to
12 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional Development
Each newly appointed Director would receive a comprehensive induction package covering business operations,
policy and procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director
to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant
regulatory requirements.
In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. During the Period, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development in
the following manner:

Directors
Executive Directors
Tam Chak Chi
Xu Xue
Independent non-executive Directors
Cai Chun Fai (resigned on 9 April 2021)
Ong King Keung (resigned on 11 May 2021)
Yuan Xiaoxi (appointed on 9 April 2021 and
resigned on 30 September 2021)
Tang Yiu Kay (appointed on 18 June 2021)
Tong Zhu (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Deng Guo Hong (resigned on 5 January 2022)
Lai Kim Fung (appointed on 5 January 2022)

Attended seminar
in relation to
directors’
responsibilities and
the GEM Listing Rules

Reading materials
relating to GEM
Listing Rules
update

✓

✓
✓

✓
✓

✓
✓

✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

The Group also provides briefings and other training to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and
update all Directors on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirement to ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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Directors’ Attendance at Board Meeting and General Meeting
The Board is responsible for the management of the Company. During the Period, the Board had scheduled regular
meeting and additional Board meetings were held as and when necessary. During the Period, the Board had held
33 Board meetings and an annual general meeting of the Company, which was held on 20 August 2021, with the
attendance of the external auditor to answer questions. The Company also held an extraordinary general meeting on
the same date as the annual general meeting to seek shareholders’ approval for changing its name from “My Heart
Bodibra Group Limited” to “Ocean Star Technology Group Limited”. Please refer to the circulars dated 28 July 2021.
The attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend for the Period
Annual general
Extraordinary
Board meeting
meeting
general meeting

Executive Directors
Tam Chak Chi
Xu Xue
Independent non-executive Directors
Cai Chun Fai (resigned on 9 April 2021)
Ong King Keung (resigned on 11 May 2021)
Deng Guo Hong (resigned on 5 January 2022)
Yuan Xiaoxi (appointed on 9 April 2021 and
resigned on 30 September 2021)
Tang Yiu Kay (appointed on 18 June 2021)
Tong Zhu (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Lai Kim Fung (appointed on 5 January 2022)

29/33
33/33

1/1
0/1

1/1
0/1

1/1
5/5
28/28

N/A
N/A
0/1

N/A
N/A
0/1

18/18
23/23
14/14
5/5

0/1
0/1
N/A
N/A

0/1
0/1
N/A
N/A

Independent non-executive Directors
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers that all three independent nonexecutive Directors as at the date of this report, namely, Mr. Tang Yiu Kay, Mr. Tong Zhu and Mr. Lai Kim Fung are
independent in accordance with the terms of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive shall be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practices”, the Company (i) has not appointed chief
executive officer (“CEO”) since 27 October 2017; and (ii) has not appointed chairman since 6 February 2018. The
roles and functions of the chairman and CEO have been performed by all the executive Directors collectively. The
Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the Board from time to time and will appoint CEO and chairman if
the Board considers appropriate and necessary.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each of the Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from their respective date of appointment and thereafter shall continue year to year unless terminated
by at least one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.
Save as disclosed aforesaid, none of the Directors has a service agreement or letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries other than the agreements/letters of appointment expiring or determinable by the
employer within one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
At any time or from time to time, the Board shall have the power to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional Director to the existing Board subject to any maximum number
of Directors, if any, as may be determined by the Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director so appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
such meeting. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual general meeting.
At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation.
However, if the number of Directors is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have
been in office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who became or were
last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board established three committees, namely the audit, remuneration and nomination committees, to oversee
particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each of the three committees has its specific terms of reference relating to
authority and duties. The majority of members of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees of the Board
are independent non-executive Directors.
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable request,
they are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense. The
Board committees will report back to the Board on their decisions or recommendations.
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in the CG Code which include
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code provisions in the
CG Code and disclosures in this report.
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Audit Committee
The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) was established on 13 July 2017 with written terms
of reference, which was updated on 31 December 2018, in compliance with Rule 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and
paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor; (b) reviewing the financial statements,
the annual report and accounts, the half-year report and the quarterly reports and significant financial reporting
judgements contained therein; and (c) reviewing the financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems. As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises all three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tong Zhu, Mr. Lai Kim Fung and Mr. Tang Yiu Kay. Mr. Tang Yiu Kay is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.
During the Period, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings and the work performed by the Audit Committee during the
Period included (i) review of the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the Company;
(ii) considering and making recommendation to the Board for approval regarding the re-appointment of auditor
(including the fees to be charged by the external auditor); (iii) review of the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2021; (iv) review of the unaudited quarterly results
and interim results together with the respective reports of the Group in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022,
with recommendation to the Board for approval; (v) review of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee; and
(vi) review and approval of the independent review result of the internal audit system carried out by an external
profession adviser.
The members of the Audit Committee during the Period and the attendance of each committee member are as
follows:

Name of Directors
Cai Chun Fai (resigned on 9 April 2021)
Ong King Keung (resigned on 11 May 2021)
Deng Guo Hong (resigned on 5 January 2022)
Yuan Xiaoxi (appointed on 9 April 2021 and
resigned on 30 September 2021)
Tang Yiu Kay (appointed on 18 June 2021)
Tong Zhu (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Lai Kim Fung (appointed on 5 January 2022)

Number of
attendance

Number of
meetings held
during term of
office

N/A
N/A
3

N/A
N/A
3

2
3
2
1

2
3
2
1

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual report and annual results
announcement, as well as the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group For
the year ended 31 March 2022. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 complied with applicable accounting standards, the requirements under
the GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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Nomination Committee
The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”) was established on 13 July 2017 with
written terms of reference, which was updated on 31 December 2018, in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the
CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b) identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; (d) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession planning for
the Directors. As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tong Zhu, Mr. Lai Kim Fung and Mr. Tang Yiu Kay, and two executive Directors, namely Mr.
Tam Chak Chi and Mr. Xu Xue. Mr. Lai Kim Fung is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
In respect of evaluating and selecting a candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee has to consider,
among others, his/her character and integrity, diversity including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge appropriate to the requirements of the Group
and its development.
During the Period, the Nomination Committee held 5 meetings and the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Period included (i) review of the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) making
recommendation to the Board for approval of the re-election and appointment of directors after consideration of a
range of diversity perspectives; (iii) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and (iv)
review of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee and board diversity policy of the Company.
The members of the Nomination Committee during the Period and the attendance of each committee member are as
follows:

Name of Directors
Cai Chun Fai (resigned on 9 April 2021)
Ong King Keung (resigned on 11 May 2021)
Tam Chak Chi
Deng Guo Hong (resigned on 5 January 2022)
Xu Xue
Yuan Xiaoxi (appointed on 9 April 2021 and
resigned on 30 September 2021)
Tang Yiu Kay (appointed on 18 June 2021)
Tong Zhu (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Lai Kim Fung (appointed on 5 January 2022)

Number of
attendance

Number of
meetings held
during term of
office

1
N/A
5
5
5

1
N/A
5
5
5

3
3
1
0

3
3
1
0

Ocean Star Technology Group Limited
Annual Report 2021-22

/019

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration Committee”) was established on 13 July 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.35 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee, under the principle that no Director or any of his/her associates
should be involved in deciding his/her own remuneration include, among others, making recommendations to the
Board on (a) the remuneration policy and structure for all of the Directors and senior management of the Company;
(b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; and (c) the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior management of the Company, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
offices or appointments. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong Zhu, Mr. Lai Kim Fung and Mr. Tang Yiu Kay, and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tam Chak Chi and Mr. Xu Xue. Mr. Lai Kim Fung is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
During the Period, the Remuneration Committee held 5 meetings and the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Period included reviewing and making recommendation to the Board for approving the
remuneration for the Directors being appointed during the Period and the grant of bonus to the staffs of the Group.
The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Period and the attendance of each committee member are
as follows:

Name of Directors
Cai Chun Fai (resigned on 9 April 2021)
Ong King Keung (resigned on 11 May 2021)
Deng Guo Hong (resigned on 5 January 2022)
Tam Chak Chi
Xu Xue
Yuan Xiaoxi (appointed on 9 April 2021 and
resigned on 30 September 2021)
Tang Yiu Kay (appointed on 18 June 2021)
Tong Zhu (appointed on 30 September 2021)
Lai Kim Fung (appointed on 5 January 2022)

Number of
attendance

Number of
meetings held
during term of
office

1
N/A
5
5
5

1
N/A
5
5
5

3
3
1
0

3
3
1
0

Details of the emolument of each Director are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BOARD DIVERSITY
The Company adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the
same.
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The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the business requirements
and development plan of the Group. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection and/or nomination of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, language, cultural and educational
background, industry experience and professional experience appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and its development.
The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the
Company, including but without limitation at the Board and senior management levels, to enhance the effectiveness
of our corporate governance as a whole. Taking into account of our existing business model and the background and
experience of our Directors, the Nomination Committee considered that the composition of the Board satisfies the
Board Diversity Policy.
As of the date of this report, there is no Board members and senior management members comprising of females
and the gender ratio of our employees as of 31 March 2022 is approximately 16 males per 99 females. The Company
expects to appoint at least one female director who would be qualified to sit on the Board no later than 31 December
2024 in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company will also review gender composition of the Group’s senior management, by reference to industrial and
demographic statistics etc., on an annual basis and determine the appropriate procedures to take to enhance gender
balance in the workforce as required.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Company recognises the need for risk management and internal control in the communication policy, strategic
and operational planning, day-to-day management and decision making process and are committed to managing
and minimising risks that may impact the continued efficiency and effectiveness of the operations or prevent it from
achieving its business objectives.
The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the Company maintains a sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems. The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed and established to
ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are adhered to
and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance are
appropriately identified and managed. Review of the Group’s risk management (including ESG risks) and internal
controls covering major financial, operational and compliance controls, those relating to its ESG performance and
reporting, as well as risk management functions. The risk management and internal control systems can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
The Board undertakes the full responsibility to oversee and carry out an annual review on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. Both the compliance committee of the
Company (the “Compliance Committee”) and the Audit Committee provide the Board with their independent
views on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management (including ESG risks) and internal control
systems, after taking into consideration of the internal assessment of senior management, the independent review
result carried out by external professional consultant, and the recommendation provided by the external auditor, if
any.
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In order to ensure the completion of remediation of findings identified during resumption investigation project, the
Group has carried out the following actions:
–

The Compliance Committee has been set up to monitor all compliance issues of the Group;

–

All significant acquisitions/transactions were reported to the Board by the Compliance Committee in Board
meetings for proper approval;

–

Adequate training, including the training in relation to the relevant legal and regulatory requirements of the
Group, was provided to employees; and

–

The Board has conducted review on the result of remediation carried out, including the relevant policies and
procedures which have been strengthened.

It is proposed that the Board may conduct a follow-up review after the relevant recommendations from the
Compliance Committee have been implemented.
In addition to the above, the process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks are summarized as
follows:

Risk Identification
–

Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
–

Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria developed by the management; and

–

Considers the impact and consequence on the business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
–

Prioritise the risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment; and

–

Determines the risk management strategies and internal control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the
risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting
–

Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensure that appropriate internal control processes
are in place;

–

Revises the risk management strategies and internal control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

–

Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board regularly.

022/

Ocean Star Technology Group Limited
Annual Report 2021-22

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is currently of the view that there is no immediate need to
set up an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business.
It was decided that the Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness.
The Board has engaged external professional consultant as its risk management and internal control review adviser
(the “Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk management (including ESG risks) and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under
rotation basis. The scope of review was previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser has reported
findings and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee and management of the Company. The Board/Audit
Committee are of the view that there are no material internal control defeats noted. All recommendations from
the Adviser are properly followed up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable period
of time. The Board therefore considered that the risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate. The adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience, training and budget of accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions have also been reviewed on an annual basis.
In relation to the procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information, they are as
follows:
•

Designated reporting channels from different operations informing any potential inside information to
designated departments;

•

Designated persons and departments to determine further escalation and disclosure as required; and

•

Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond to external enquiries.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions for the year under review and up to the date of
this annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.
In March 2022, the Company engaged Roma Risk Advisory Limited to review the internal control systems of
the Company (regarding corporate level controls and financial reporting and disclosure controls) and to make
recommendations accordingly.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the fees paid to the Company’s auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited and its network firm in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group are as follows:
HK$’000
Audit services

650
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board having made appropriate enquiries and examined major
areas which could give rise to significant financial exposures. The Directors have reasonable expectation that the
Group’s ability to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future by (1) inspecting and evaluating the
Group’s cash flow forecasts including its calculations and underlying key assumptions adopted; (2) various cost
control measures have been taken to tighten the costs of operations and implementing various strategies to enhance
the Group’s revenue; and (3) placing of new shares under general mandate in order to finance the Group’s operation
and business development. For these reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.
The Board also acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that the Group keeps accounting records which disclose in
the annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards; and
other inside information announcements and other financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules, and
reports to the regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The statement of external auditor of the Company, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited, regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Tam Chak Chi, the executive Director, has been appointed as the Company Secretary and please refer to the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for the biographical details of Mr. Tam.
All Directors are entitled to have access to board papers and related materials and have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Tam Chak Chi, the executive Director, has been appointed as compliance officer of the Company and please
refer to the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report for the biographical details of
Mr. Tam.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS RELATIONS
The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to
meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Shareholders’ rights to convene a general meeting and put forward proposals at
general meetings
Extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedure for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or send comments/suggestion to Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Shareholders may also make
enquiries with the Board at the general meeting of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There were no changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during the Period. The Constitution is
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT
INTRODUCTION
Ocean Star Technology Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is mainly
engaged in (1) designing, manufacturing and sales of lingerie products in Hong Kong, Macau and Shenzhen in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and (2) provision of beauty services in Hong Kong. The Group places great
emphasis on incorporating sustainable business practices into its daily operations. This Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “ESG Report”) summarises the ESG initiatives, plans and performances of the
Group and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

The ESG Governance Structure
The board of directors (the “Board”) holds the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues and sets out ESG
management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives. To identify and prioritise major ESG issues that have a
significant impact on the Group’s operations and stakeholders, the Group continuously communicates with internal
and external stakeholders. In order to better manage the Group’s ESG performance, related issues and potential
risks, the Board regularly evaluates and determines ESG-related risks and opportunities for the Group. The Group has
also decided to set environmental targets covering aspects of energy consumption and water consumption, with the
aim to align with the PRC government’s vision of carbon neutrality and to enhance corporate reputation. The Board
and management are responsible to review the Group’s performance against ESG-related targets, and the Board is
also responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and
approving disclosures in the ESG Report.
The Group has assigned personnel to systematically identify and manage ESG issues. The said personnel are
responsible for collecting and analysing relevant ESG data and identifying the Group’s ESG issues. In addition, the
said personnel periodically report to the Board for the evaluation and subsequent implementation or revision of the
Group’s ESG strategies.

REPORTING SCOPE
The ESG Report covers all of the Group’s business activities and operations in Hong Kong, Macau and Shenzhen in
the PRC. The scope of reporting aligns with the Group’s Annual Report 2021–22. The key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) gathered are shown in the ESG Report and are supplemented by explanatory notes to establish benchmarks.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK
The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance practices has been set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of the Annual Report 2021–22.
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Reporting Principles
During the preparation for this ESG Report, the Group has applied the following reporting principles:
Materiality: The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the management. For further details, please
refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.
Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and applicable assumptions used in the calculation of KPIs data were
supplemented by explanatory notes; the Group’s actual consumption of environmental data was mainly derived from
financial information with a consistent methodology for calculation assumptions.
Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation approach of this ESG Report is consistent with the previous
report for meaningful comparison. If there are any changes in the scope of disclosure or calculation methodologies
that may affect the comparison with previous reports, explanations will be provided to the corresponding data.

REPORTING PERIOD
The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and measures taken by the Group during the financial year
ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year” or “2022”).

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
To fully understand, respond to and address the core concern of different stakeholders, the Group engages its
key stakeholders to identify sustainability topics and potential risks. Key stakeholders include but are not limited
to, customers, employees, shareholders and investors, government and regulatory authorities, suppliers and
community.
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Stakeholders’ expectations have been taken into consideration by utilising diversified engagement methods as
shown below:
Stakeholders

Engagement Methods

Expectations

Customers

•
•
•

Customer service hotline and email
Marketing events
Social media platform

•
•
•

Product quality
Customer satisfaction
After-sales services

Employees

•
•

Performance evaluation or appraisal
Internal announcement

•
•
•
•

Humanity and labour rights
Occupational health and safety
Career development
Equal opportunity

Shareholders and
investors

•
•
•

Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings
Financial reports
Announcements and circulars

•
•
•
•

Financial performance
Information transparency
Operating risks management
Corporate sustainability

Government and
regulatory authorities

•
•

Regulatory documents
•
Written or electronic correspondences •

Compliance with laws and regulations
Fulfil tax obligations

Suppliers

•
•

Supplier performance assessment
Meeting with suppliers’
representatives

•
•

Fair and open selection
Business ethics and reputation

Community

•

ESG reports

•
•

Awareness on environmental protection
Compliant operations

The Group endeavours to actively listen to and collaborate with its stakeholders to ensure that their opinions can
be voiced out through an effective communication channel. In the long run, the stakeholders’ contribution will aid
the Group in identifying and improving potentially overlooked ESG performances and maintaining the success of the
Group’s business in the challenging market.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
The Board and management who are responsible for key functions of the Group have participated in the preparation
of the ESG Report. They have assisted the Group in reviewing its operations, identified key ESG issues and assessed
its importance to its businesses and stakeholders.
The Group compiled a questionnaire according to the material ESG aspects identified and approached various
stakeholders to complete the said questionnaire in order to fully reflect different stakeholders’ opinions. As there
are no significant changes in the Group’s operations during the Year, the previous materiality assessment result
continues to be used in this ESG Report. The Group’s materiality matrix is shown below:
The Group´s Materiality Matrix

High

Product Quality Assurance

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS
ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS

Supply Chain Management
Data Privacy Protecon
An-corrupon
Occupaonal Health and Safety
Recruitment, Promoon and Dismissal

Prevenon of Child and Forced Labour

Waste Management

Community Investment

Development and Training
Climate Change
Water Consumpon

Energy Consumpon
Emissions Control

Low

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS

High

During the Year, the Group confirmed that it has established appropriate and effective management policies and
internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the disclosed contents complied with the requirements of
the ESG Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US
The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions. You can provide valuable advice
in respect of the ESG Report or the Group’s performances in sustainable development by sending comments or
suggestions to Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL
A1. Emissions
Emissions Control
Environmental protection is one of the core values of the Group. The Group strives to minimise negative
impacts on the environment and to seek environmentally friendly methods of operation. The Group has
established Environmental Policy to regulate its emissions. The Group’s products are designed to be safe
and environmentally-friendly for customer use, meaning recyclable and safe-to-dispose materials are
specified in its designs, and clean production processes are adopted in its manufacturing process.
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a significant impact on the Group including but not
limited to, the Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance and the Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong
Kong, the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC and other relevant local laws and regulations.
The design procedure and assemble process are the major functions of the Group’s operations. Therefore,
the key environmental impact of the Group’s operations is energy consumption. To achieve environmental
protection, the Group encourages employees to switch off all computers and office equipment such as
lighting and air conditioner at the end of each working day.
The Group’s factories ensure its products are produced efficiently in an energy-wise manner. The factories
have also integrated environmental objectives into business decisions in a cost-effective manner. In
addition, the Group has required all staff to assume environmental responsibilities in normal operating
procedures and has enhanced the awareness of environmental and resource efficiency issues amongst
customers, staff and stakeholders. All important green and quality assurance policies have been posted
on the notice board and stated in the standard operating procedures of the Group’s manufacturing plants.
Air Emissions
Air emissions generated from business operations of the Group mainly include nitrogen oxides (NO x),
sulphur oxides (SOx) and particulate matter (PM), the major source of which is vehicle emissions.
The following table summarises the Group’s performance of air emissions:
Indicators1

Unit

Nitrogen Oxides (NOx)
Sulphur Oxides (SOx)
Particulate Matter (PM)

kg
kg
kg

2022

2021

4.24
0.11
0.31

8.88
0.11
0.78

Note:
1.

030/

The calculation method of air emissions and the related emission factors were based on, including but not
limited to, “How to Prepare an ESG Report – Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
the Stock Exchange.
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The Group has adopted the following measures to reduce air emissions generated from vehicles:
•

Switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is idling;

•

Use unleaded fuel and low sulphur content fuel in accordance with laws and regulations;

•

Phase out substandard vehicles in accordance with national emission policies and standards;

•

Plan routes in advance to optimise fuel consumption;

•

Provide maintenance services to vehicles on a regular basis to ensure engine performance and
efficient use of fuels; and

•

Optimise operational procedures to increase the loading rate and reduce the idling rate of vehicles.

Even though the level of relevant air emissions generated by the Group’s production is not material, the
Group has implemented the following measures to further reduce industrial air emissions:
•

Enhance facilities management and maintain treatment facilities on a regular basis to keep the
facilities in normal operation; and

•

Prioritise the adoption of clean production techniques with energy efficiency and reduce air
emissions.

By adopting the abovementioned measures, the Group’s concentration of industrial air emissions met the
emission limits as required by the National Occupational Health Standards of the PRC and the applicable
laws formulated by regional governments during the Year.
GHG Emissions
Scope 1 – Direct GHG Emissions
A portion of GHG emissions of the Group was generated from petrol consumption by vehicles. The Group
has therefore adopted various measures to reduce its direct GHG emissions from petrol consumption by
vehicles in its operations. Measures implemented by the Group can be found in “Air Emissions” under this
Aspect.
Scope 2 – Energy Indirect GHG Emissions
Purchased electricity consumption accounted for the major source of GHG emissions within the Group.
The Group has implemented measures to reduce electricity consumption, which will be mentioned in
“Energy Consumption”.
Scope 3 – Other Indirect GHG Emissions
Other indirect GHG emissions mainly cover the electricity used for processing the Group’s fresh water and
sewage by government departments, of which the Group has adopted relevant measures, which will be
mentioned in “Water Consumption”.
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The Group has set a target to gradually reduce the GHG emissions intensity in the next five years.
Total GHG emissions increased by approximately 40.16% from approximately 110.45 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e”) in 2021 to approximately 154.81 tCO2e this Year. This is due to the increase
in business activities as the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) has been eased.
The following table summarises the Group’s performance of GHG emissions:
Indicators2

Unit

2022

2021

Scope 1 – Direct GHG Emissions
Scope 2 – Energy Indirect GHG Emissions
Scope 3 – Other Indirect GHG Emissions

tCO2e
tCO2e
tCO2e

19.78
134.52
0.51

19.13
90.86
0.46

Total GHG Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3)

tCO2e

154.81

110.45

Total GHG Emissions Intensity3

tCO2e/m2

0.03

0.02

Notes:
2.

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an ESG report –
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the “Global Warming
Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), “Emission Reduction Project 2019:
Baseline Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China” issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the PRC, “2021 Sustainability Report” published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited, the “Sustainability
Report 2021” published by the HK Electric Investments Limited, “Sustainability Report 2020” published by the
Companhia de Eletricidade de Macau of Macau, “Annual Report 2019/20” published by the Water Supplies
Department of Hong Kong and the “Sustainability Report 2020–21” published by the Drainage Services
Department of Hong Kong.

3.

As of 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a total saleable area coverage of approximately 5,254.00 m2 (2021:
5,400.00 m2). This data is used for calculating other intensity data.

Sewage Discharges into Water and Land
The Group does not consume a significant volume of water through its business activities, and therefore
its business activities did not generate a material portion of discharges into water. Sewage was discharged
via the municipal sewage network to the regional water treatment plant. Due to the Group’s business
nature, the discharges into the land were insignificant.
Waste Management
Hazardous Waste Management
Due to the Group’s business nature, no material hazardous waste was generated by the Group during
the Year, and thereby no related targets have been established. In case there are any unusual hazardous
wastes produced, the Group must engage a qualified chemical waste collector to handle such wastes, so as
to comply with the relevant environmental laws and regulations.
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Non-hazardous Waste Management
The non-hazardous waste produced by the Group during its operation mainly includes production waste
(e.g. fabrics), paper and employees’ domestic waste. For paper consumption, the Group encourages
employees to increase the use of e-statement or scanning rather than traditional photocopying to reduce
the use of paper. However, during the Year, the amount of non-hazardous waste generated by the Group
was insignificant due to the Group’s business nature, and thereby no related targets have been established.
Nonetheless, the Group will expand its data collection system to disclose figures related to non-hazardous
waste in the future.

A2. Use of Resources
The Group has adopted proactive measures in reducing energy and resource consumption and
vigorously promoting the philosophy of energy-saving and emission-reducing. The Group has specifically
formulated Environmental Policy, aiming to conduct research and statistical works in respect of its energy
consumption in a scientific way and ensure a reasonable usage of its resources.
Energy Consumption
The Group realises the scarcity of finite natural resources and has therefore implemented policies to
better govern the use of resources. As such, the Group has set a target to gradually reduce total energy
consumption intensity in the next five years.
Also, the Group strives to further reduce energy consumption by adopting the following energy-saving
measures:
•

Switch on external lighting of the retail shop only during operating hours;

•

Pre-set air-conditioning temperature at 25.5°C in the offices;

•

Post energy-saving reminders near lights switches and electrical appliances as a reminder to
employees;

•

Switch off lights and electronic appliances before leaving the office; and

•

Purchase equipment with higher energy efficiency in the replacement of old equipment.

Abnormal electricity consumption will be investigated and preventive measures will be taken.
Total energy consumption increased significantly from approximately 206,374.76 kWh in 2021 to
approximately 323,772.23 kWh this Year. This is due to the increase in business activities as the outbreak
of COVID-19 has been eased.
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The following table summarises the Group’s performance of energy consumption:
Indicators4

Unit

2022

2021

Direct Energy Consumption
•
Petrol
•
Diesel
Indirect Energy Consumption
•
Electricity

kWh

72,067.55

69,924.63

kWh

251,704.68

136,450.13

Total Energy Consumption

kWh

323,772.23

206,374.76

Total Energy Consumption Intensity

kWh/m2

61.62

38.22

Note:
4.

The calculation method of unit conversion refers to the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International
Energy Agency; the direct energy consumption in 2022 only consist of petrol.

Water Consumption
The Group recognises the importance of water conservation. Therefore, the Group has set a target to
gradually reduce total water consumption intensity in the next five years. The Group has posted water
conservation reminders around the Group’s premises, and regularly inspects water taps to prevent
leakage. The Group will also install dual flush water cisterns in toilets and water-saving thimbles in sinks
where possible, to reduce its water consumption.
With all effort that the Group has exterted, the total water consumption has maintained at a similar level
in 2022 compared with 2021 baseline.
The following table summarises the Group’s performance of water consumption:
Indicator

Unit

Total Water Consumption
Total Water Consumption Intensity

m3
m3/m2

2022

2021

807.96
0.15

750.44
0.14

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group did not encounter any problem in sourcing water that was
fit for its purpose.
Use of Packaging Material
The Group is committed to protecting the environment, and minimising the use of packaging material.
Due to the nature of the Group’s business segments, the packaging material used is mainly plastic bags.
The packaging material used by the Group in the Year was approximately 24,817 pieces.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group does not pose a significant impact on the environment
and the natural resources. Nonetheless, the Group has established Environmental Policy, mechanisms
and measures on environmental protection and natural resources conservation to enhance its efficiency
in the usage of energy, water and materials. The Group also complies with relevant local environmental
regulations and international general practices, with an aim to reduce the use of natural resources and
protect the environment.

A4. Climate Change
The management of the Group understands that climate change may adversely impact its businesses and
the global economy as a whole. Therefore, other than reducing the environmental footprint caused by the
Group’s business, the Group also strives to identify any physical and transition risks caused by climate
change, and formulated Climate Change Policy to adapt to and/or mitigate major impacts associated with
identified risks.
Physical Risks
Extreme weather events are occurring more frequently with increasing severity, disasters such as floods,
rainstorms, typhoons, etc., can greatly impact the Group’s supply chain and assets. Events such as
typhoons pose risks to operations as they may affect power supply, and damage the operation sites. Staff
are also at risk of work disruption, injuries and casualties. Damages to the Group’s assets and interruption
to the supply chain and the Group’s production activities are detrimental to the Group’s businesses
leading to increasing repair costs and disrupted business operations.
In view of these risks, the Group has Employee Handbook in place to protect the Group’s employees.
Special work arrangements will be offered under extreme weather such as typhoons and black rainstorm
signals. In addition, the Group has formulated Business Continuity Plan in the Internal Control Policies
and Procedures Manual for emergencies so that loss can be reduced or avoided when extreme weather
events affect the Group’s operating sites. The Group will identify these risks and prioritise those that may
have a significant impact to take precautionary measures in the first place.
Transition Risks
Governments around the world are tightening environmental regulations and enacting climate-related
legislation under the global movement for decarbonisation. Both risks and opportunities are presented in
the form of government taxes and incentives in order to support the transition of different businesses to a
greener mode of operation.
Other than tightening emission regulations, businesses are also required to follow increasingly stringent
disclosure and compliance measures. The investors are also becoming more aware of the sustainability of
different businesses and their commitment to conducting green businesses. Thus, the Group recognises
the potential compliance risks such as lawsuits and claims, as well as reputational risks if non-compliance
occurs.
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The Group’s management will closely monitor the changes in the business environment and policy,
and capitalise on the opportunities whenever possible to fulfil its role as a global citizen. In addition,
the Group will also adjust and formulate appropriate business strategies to support the global vision of
decarbonisation.

B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment
The Group places a significant emphasis on developing human capital, providing competitive
remuneration and welfare packages. The Group has formulated the Employee Handbook in accordance
with the Labour Law of the PRC and the applicable laws formulated by regional governments, and has
been distributed to all employees since joining the Group. The Group requires all new, as well as existing
employees to be accessible to the Employee Handbook as soon as practical after he/she reports to duty.
As of 31 March 2022, the Group employed a total of 115 (As of 31 March 2021: 105) employees, the total
workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region were as follows:
2022
By Gender
Male
Female
By Employment Type6
Full-time
Part-time
By Age Group
19–60 years old
Above 60 years old
By Geographical Region
Hong Kong, the PRC
Shenzhen, the PRC
Macau, the PRC

2021 5

16
99

21
84

110
5

105
–

96
19

93
12

76
36
3

71
30
4

Notes:
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5.

The Group has optimised the data presentation in 2021, in order to better comply with the ESG Reporting Guide
for data comparison.

6.

The Group has added employment data by employment type, to better comply with the ESG Reporting Guide
disclosure.
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During the Year, the overall employee turnover rate7 was approximately 28% (2021: 26%). The number
of employees left and employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region were as
follows:
2022
Number of
employees
Employee
left turnover rate 8
By Gender
Male
Female
By Age Group
19–60 years old
Above 60 years old
By Geographical Region
Hong Kong, the PRC
Shenzhen, the PRC
Macau, the PRC

2021
Number of
employees
Employee
left turnover rates 8

7
25

44%
25%

1
26

5%
31%

30
2

31%
11%

25
2

27%
17%

27
4
1

36%
11%
33%

7
20
–

10%
67%
–

Notes:
7.

Overall employee turnover rate = Total number of employees leaving employment during the year/Total number
of employees at the end of the year*100%.

8.

Employee turnover rate = Total number of employees leaving employment during the year by category/Total
number of employees at the end of the year by category*100%.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to the
Employee’s Compensation Ordinance, Employment Ordinance, Minimum Wage Ordinance and Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and other relevant
laws and regulations formulated by local governments.
Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
The Group emphasises equal opportunities for all personnel in respect of hiring, pay rates, training and
development, promotion and other terms of employment. The Group is committed to creating and
maintaining an inclusive and harmonious workplace culture by providing a working environment that
is free from any form of discrimination including ethnicity, gender, religion, age, disability or sexual
orientation. The Group emphatically states its zero-tolerance stance on any aforementioned behaviours in
the workplace of any form.
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Formal performance appraisals are required to be carried out annually. For staff in retail shops, the
sales director should prepare and submit the appraisals to the directors. For office staff, the head of the
department is responsible to prepare the appraisals. The goals of performance appraisals are as follows:
•

To provide feedback on both good and poor performance;

•

To identify areas for training, personal development and career advancement;

•

To set short and longer-term career goals; and

•

To provide input to directors on who is eligible for the promotion.

In order to recognise the value in the skill and experience of the Group’s employees, the Group has
adopted a policy that any promotions will be considered internally first before hiring any outside staff. It is
the Group’s policy to select the most suitable candidate for appointment to a higher rank based on merit,
rather than on the seniority of the candidates.
Furthermore, unreasonable dismissal under any circumstances is strictly prohibited. Dismissal will be
based on reasonable and lawful grounds supported by internal policies of the Group.
Remuneration and Welfare
The Group understands that competitive benefits and welfare encourage retention and foster a sense
of belonging. The Group offers attractive remuneration packages, including performance bonuses,
discretionary bonuses and sale commissions. The Group’s remuneration package is structured with
reference to the individual performance, working experience and prevailing salary levels in the market.
For instance, in addition to basic salaries and mandatory provident fund for the Group’s Hong Kong
employees, the Group has also participated in relevant defined contribution retirement schemes
administrated by the respective local responsible government authorities in Macau and the PRC for its
employees in Macau and the PRC. Further to the working hours details, please refer to the section headed
“Labour Standards”.
All employees of the Group are also entitled to sick leave, injury leave and maternity leave with medical
proof in accordance with the Labour Law of PRC and the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Labour
Rights and Interests and other applicable regulations formulated by local governments.
Should employees have sustained a personal injury by accident or disease arising out of and in the
course of employment, the Group would also compensate them through the provision of the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong and the applicable laws formulated by regional governments.
In addition to the entitlement of leaves stipulated in the relevant laws and regulations formulated by
local governments, the Group provides other leaves to its employees, such as compassionate leave,
compensation leave, etc. Save for the aforementioned entitlement to leaves, the employees are also
entitled to benefits such as birthday red packet, discount on the Group’s products purchase, medical
insurance scheme and business trip travel insurance scheme. The Group also periodically reviews existing
policies and employment practices to ensure continuous improvement of its employment standards.
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B2. Health and Safety
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with health and safety-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to
the Occupiers Liability Ordinance and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Production Safety Law of the PRC and the applicable occupational safety and health standards formulated
by local governments. There were no work-related fatalities within the past three years (including this
Year), and 2 work injury cases which cause a total of 338 lost working days (2021: nil) during the Year,
the accidents were due to a fall at the sewing workshop, as well as injured during delivery of goods. Both
employees have been covered by leave or work injury compensation in accordance with the labour laws
of Hong Kong and the Group’s internal policy.
Occupational Health and Safety
The Group seeks to attract and retain talented employees by providing a healthy and safe workplace for
each and every employee in line with established internal guidelines and systems.
The Group provides its employee with flexible rest days arrangements, medical and hospital schemes.
The Group understands that a good working environment for its employees with safe and comfortable
working conditions is very important. The Group thus has set a clear guideline of work arrangements for
typhoon and rainstorm warnings. Safety Instruction has been established and distributed to all staff on the
first day of work. The maintenance staff is responsible to update the safety regulation and present to all
staff during the annual safety meeting.
Smoking is prohibited in factories, which are equipped with fire extinguishers which would be replaced
annually. Regular fire prevention talks and fire-fighting drills are organised at least annually to improve
employees’ capability to deal with potential fire hazards. First aid exercises are regularly performed.
Rapid Response to COVID-19 Outbreak
Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group remains highly vigilant about the potential impact of health and
safety on both its employees and customers. The Group has issued a memorandum to its employees
at the factories and retail shops to remind them of the importance of maintaining personal hygiene and
conducting additional sanitation procedures to the factories, retail shops and its products and accessories.
For its employees, the Group required that their temperature to be taken before entering the Group’s
premises. They were also required to wear a facial mask at all times. For customers visiting the retail
shops, the Group has imposed measures to avoid the spreading of COVID-19, customers were required to
wear a facial mask before entering the retail shops and hand sanitiser is provided to customers.

B3. Development and Training
Provision of Training Opportunities
The Group has committed to providing on-the-job education and training to its employees in order to
enhance their knowledge and skills. Therefore, Continuing Professional Development in Internal Control
Policies and Procedures Manual have been established to improve employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Performance evaluations will be conducted annually. All employees are
encouraged to participate in the training in order to enhance their working efficiency and to be better
prepared for promotion. During the Year, approximately 6.25% of male employees and approximately
33.33% of the Group’s senior management have attended training courses in accordance with the
Corporate Governance Code with approximately 0.70 hours and approximately 3.72 hours of average
training hours respectively. Employees have received on-job training regularly, no training seminars have
been held under the COVID-19 social distancing measures.
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B4. Labour Standards
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
The Group fully understands that the exploitation of child and forced labour are universally prohibited,
and therefore takes responsibility against child and forced labour very seriously. Employee Handbook is in
place to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour.
For entry registration, all employees must present valid documents as follows: (i) identity card and
vocational qualification certificate; (ii) social security card; (iii) medical or health certificate; (iv) recent
photos; and (v) other relevant information and documents required by the Group. The above procedures
can ensure no child labour will be employed in the Group’s operations including in its factories.
As the Group recognises the importance of leading a balanced lifestyle, working overtime is not
encouraged and all employees work normally 8 hours daily. However, if overtime work is required,
overtime work will be compensated in accordance with the provisions of local employment-related
regulations. If any violations of child and forced labour are found, the Group will take follow-up actions
in accordance with the internal policy. The Group will evaluate the mechanism regularly to ensure its
effectiveness.
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with child and forced labour
related laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited
to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of PRC and the Law of the PRC on the
Protection of Labour Rights and Interests and other applicable laws formulated by the local governments.

B5. Supply Chain Management
The Group understands the importance of supply chain management in mitigating indirect environmental
and social risks. Therefore, the Group has Internal Control Policies and Procedures Manual in place to
manage environmental and social risks of the supply chain, and tries to engage suppliers with responsible
acts to society in view of green supply chain management.
During the Year, the Group had a total of 41 major suppliers, the number of suppliers by geographical
region is summarised in the following table:
Geographical Regions

040/

Number

Hong Kong, the PRC
Shenzhen, the PRC
Others (Italy, Japan, Korea)

8
28
5

Total

41
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Procurement Process
The Group adheres to the principle of transparency and implements the value of honesty, integrity and
fairness in its supply chain management. The Group’s procurement procedures provide directions and
guidelines on evaluation and engagement when dealing with suppliers of goods and services to ensure
the business is conducted with legally, financially and technically sound entities.
A background inspection of the supplier will be performed if there is any new purchase made from a new
supplier. At least 2 potential suppliers will be evaluated in terms of quality and price for the managing
director’s review and approval before placing purchase order. The Group will assess the supplier’s
product quality, environmental and social aspects as selection criteria for establishing a long-term
relationship. The Group will also follow Sustainable Supply Chain Policy, and give priorities to suppliers
who use environmentally preferable products and services in the selection process, in order to maintain
a high-quality green supply chain. During the Year, all of the Group’s suppliers are subject to the supply
chain-related practices above.
The approved supplier list, which includes name, address and telephone contact of the supplier is
maintained and accessed by authorised personnel only. Furthermore, evaluations on the work performed
of suppliers are conducted on a regular basis. If the suppliers continuously fail to meet the standard of
the Group, they may be suspended or removed from the approved supplier list. The supplier relationship
may also be terminated in the event of any substantial violation of environmental and labour laws and
regulations. The Group will regularly review supply chain-related policies and practices to ensure their
effectiveness.

B6. Product Responsibility
Ensuring customer satisfaction in its products and services is of paramount importance for the Group,
as the Group priority is always to ensure customer satisfaction in terms of the products and services.
Strenuous efforts are made to ensure compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
product health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates. The Group requires its employees to comply with applicable governmental and regulatory laws,
rules, codes and regulations.
During the Year, the Group has no recalled products (2021: nil) for safety and health reasons, and no
major service-related complaints (2021: 3 complaints) on unsatisfactory customer service were received.
During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with product responsibility and
data privacy-related laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group, including
but not limited to the Product Quality Law of the PRC, the Patent Law of the PRC, Trade Descriptions
Ordinance of Hong Kong, and other applicable laws formulated by the local governments.
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Product Quality Assurance
Quality management is emphasised by the Group as it directly affects the reputation of the Group.
Implementing sound quality control is therefore fundamental to ensuring the quality and safety of
the goods and services provided to customers. The Group has formulated Production Safety Control
Procedures in the Internal Control Policies and Procedures Manual to ensure consistent product quality.
If any products fail to meet the Group’s standards, they will be dealt with internal recall procedures. The
Group will evaluate the policy regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
The Group’s quality and innovation are recognised by various parties. The following are the honours of the
Group in the Year:
Granting Authority

Honours

Hong Kong Brand Development Council
Business Innovator
Hong Kong Tourism Board

Made in Hong Kong Mark Scheme
2021 Most Innovative Solutions Awards
Quality Tourism Services Scheme

Customer Satisfaction
Feedback and complaints from the Group’s customers are highly valued as it is of vital importance to the
continuous development of the Group. Procedures for handling complaints have been set up. Should the
Group receive any complaints, the Group will strive to act in a timely manner to resolve the issue with
effective corrective actions. In addition, complaints of significant weight received will be discussed and
reviewed by the management during regular meetings to prevent reoccurrence.
Data Privacy Protection
The Group is committed to safeguarding all sensitive information pertaining to its customers, suppliers and
employees. Various measures are adopted by the Group on data protection. All confidential information
such as human resource data, sensitive financial data, etc., is encrypted with passwords. Staff are only
allowed to access, retrieve, store and/or copy computer data that are necessary and directly related to
their work. The administrative department is responsible for ensuring the security of all data contained in
computers and protecting data against unauthorised access or retrieval. Any employee who is found to
have misused, unauthorised accessed to, or mishandled of confidential information will be subjected to
the Group’s internal policy up to and including immediate discharge.
Intellectual Property (“IP”) Rights
IP of the Group includes any trademarks, patents, designs, copyrights and trade secrets created, owned
or used by the Group in its business. The design and marketing department is responsible to monitor
the need for the development of any IP and they would periodically review the market, the product and
prepare reports to management for suggesting any development or registration of IP. Any suggestions
raised would be reviewed and approved by the head of the design and marketing department and notify
the senior management before further study would be carried out.
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Employees of the Group are prohibited to use the IP of the Group to earn any gains or profits without the
consent of the directors. Staff of the design and marketing department will also investigate any persons
or companies using the IP without the consent of the Group in different media at least quarterly. An
investigation report will be prepared quarterly to conclude the scope of monitoring and the findings,
and submitted to the administration department for review and retention. The Group will take follow-up
actions immediately if any case of stolen IP of the Group has been found.
Advertising and Labelling
In order to ensure that the products’ labels meet the actual conditions of such products, the Group has
formulated relevant procedures to regulate the use of the labels of the Group’s products and ensure that
the content of the labels meets the relevant national requirements. During the promotion process, the
Group strictly requires the responsible personnel to abide by the relevant laws and regulations related to
the use of advertisements and labels to avoid any form of false publicity.

B7. Anti-corruption
Corruption, bribery, extortion, money laundering or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited. The Group’s
Code of Conduct, Whistleblowing Policy, Anti-bribery Policies, and Anti-money Laundering and Counter
Terrorist Financing Policy in Internal Control Policies and Procedures Manual set out standards of conduct
to which all employees are required to adhere in order to promote an environment of integrity in the
workplace.
To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest, unless with the Group’s approval, directors
and employees are prohibited from accepting any valuable items from co-workers, customers, suppliers
or other stakeholders. Unless with approval, the Board and the senior management members are also
prohibited from engaging in any activities that involve a potential conflict of interest with the Group or
may harm Group’s overall interests. Breaches are subject to disciplinary actions, including termination of
employment contracts where necessary. If there is sufficient evidence to suggest that a case of possible
criminal offence or corruption exists, the matter will be reported by Audit Committee to the relevant local
authorities (for instance, Independent Commission Against Corruption in Hong Kong).
Various policies mentioned above have also been formulated in accordance with the Securities and
Futures Commission’s Guideline on Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Financing of Terrorism, including
the basic procedures for customer identification and due diligence, suspicious transactions report and
recordkeeping. Ongoing anti-corruption staff training has also been carried out to ensure all directors
and staff are fully aware of these policies. During the Year, the Group’s senior management has attended
training courses in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code, which include anti-corruption
information. Employees has also received anti-corruption related training materials regularly to further
strengthen the Group’s corporate culture of integrity.
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Whistleblowing Mechanism
The Group adopts Whistleblowing Policy for all levels. Employees can raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter related to the Group. Reports
and complaints received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner. All cases will be kept confidential so
as to protect the whistleblowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted disciplinary actions.
The Group will review the policy regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
During the Year, there was no concluded legal case concerning corruption brought against the Group
or employees. During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with anticorruption-related laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group, including
but not limited to the Company Law of the PRC and the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance of Hong Kong.

B8. Community Investment
Being a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to emboldening and supporting the public by
the means of community participation and contribution to nurturing the corporate culture in the daily
work life throughout the Group. The Group formulated Community Investment Policy to understand the
needs of the community and allocate appropriate resources to empower the community. The Group has
identified education, social welfare and women’s health as the Group focus of community investment.
The Group believes that it can act effectively to help alleviate social problems and respond positively to
charitable programmes and volunteering services. In the future, the Group will continue to fulfil its social
responsibility and contribute to society.
During the Year, the Group donated approximately HK$30,000 to the Hong Kong Hereditary Breast Cancer
Family Registry and Breast Ovarian Prostate in the event of “Pink October” to show care to hereditary
breast cancer patients.
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF STOCK EXCHANGE
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

Sections

Governance Structure
Reporting Principles
Reporting Boundary

The ESG Governance Structure
Reporting Principles
Reporting Scope

Aspects, General Disclosures
and KPIs
Description

Sections/Remarks

Aspect A1: Emissions
General Disclosure

Emissions

Information on:
(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

KPI A1.1

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

Emissions – Air Emissions

KPI A1.2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emissions – GHG Emissions
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

KPI A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

N/A – Explained

KPI A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

N/A – Explained

KPI A1.5

Description of emissions target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

Emissions – GHG Emissions
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Aspects, General Disclosures
and KPIs
Description

Sections/Remarks

KPI A1.6

Description of how hazardous and nonhazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

N/A – Explained

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

Use of Resources

KPI A2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Use of Resources – Energy
Consumption

KPI A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

Use of Resources – Water
Consumption

KPI A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

Use of Resources – Energy
Consumption

KPI A2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

Use of Resources – Water
Consumption

KPI A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

Use of Resources – Use of
Packaging Material

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure
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Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impacts on the environment and natural
resources.
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Aspects, General Disclosures
and KPIs
Description
KPI A3.1

Sections/Remarks

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

The Environment and Natural
Resources

Aspect A4: Climate Change
General Disclosure

Climate Change
Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

KPI A4.1

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

Climate Change – Physical Risks,
Transition Risks

Information on:

Employment

Aspect B1: Employment
General Disclosure

(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

KPI B1.1

Total workforce by gender, employment type
(for example, full- or part-time), age group
and geographical region.

Employment

KPI B1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.

Employment
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Aspects, General Disclosures
and KPIs
Description

Sections/Remarks

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
General Disclosure

Information on:
(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

Health and Safety

KPI B2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

Health and Safety

KPI B2.2

Lost days due to work injury.

Health and Safety

KPI B2.3

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Health and Safety – Occupational
Health and Safety, Rapid
Response to COVID-19 Outbreak

Aspect B3: Development and Training
General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

Development and Training –
Provision of Training
Opportunities

KPI B3.1

The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

Development and Training –
Provision of Training
Opportunities

KPI B3.2

The average training hours completed
per employee by gender and employee
category.

Development and Training –
Provision of Training
Opportunities
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Aspects, General Disclosures
and KPIs
Description

Sections/Remarks

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
General Disclosure

Labour Standards – Prevention of
Child and Forced Labour

Information on:
(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

KPI B4.1

Description of measures to review
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

Labour Standards – Prevention of
Child and Forced Labour

KPI B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

Labour Standards – Prevention of
Child and Forced Labour

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain Management
risks of the supply chain.

KPI B5.1

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management –
Procurement Process

KPI B5.3

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along
the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management –
Procurement Process

KPI B5.4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management –
Procurement Process
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Aspects, General Disclosures
and KPIs
Description

Sections/Remarks

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General Disclosure

Information on:
(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

Product Responsibility

Product Responsibility

KPI B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.

KPI B6.2

Product Responsibility
Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

KPI B6.3

Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.

Product Responsibility – IP Rights

KPI B6.4

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

Product Responsibility – Product
Quality Assurance

KPI B6.5

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Product Responsibility – Data
Privacy Protection
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Aspects, General Disclosures
and KPIs
Description

Sections/Remarks

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
General Disclosure

Anti-corruption

Information on:
(a)

the policies; and

(b)

compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

KPI B7.1

Anti-corruption
Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

KPI B7.2

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

KPI B7.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided Anti-corruption
to directors and staff.

Anti-corruption – Whistleblowing
Mechanism

Aspect B8: Community Investment
General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

Community Investment

KPI B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

Community Investment

KPI B8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to Community Investment
the focus area.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The Directors hereby present this report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The major activities of its principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
To the best knowledge of the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the Period.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 67 of this annual report.
The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders to be its goal.
In order to strike a balance between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the business and rewarding the
Shareholders, the declaration of dividends and the amount of dividend will be subject to the discretion of the Board
and will depend on, among other things, the followings:
(i)

the results of operations of the Group;

(ii)

the retained earnings of the Company;

(iii)

the cash flow availability and requirements of the Group;

(iv)

the financial conditions of the market and the Group;

(v)

the capital requirements and development plan of the Group; and

(vi)

any other factors that the Board may considered relevant.
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The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the articles of association of
the Company, the Cayman Islands Companies Law and the applicable laws and regulations. The Board will review
the policy from time to time and may update and/or revise the same at any time as it deems fit and appropriate.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements during the Period in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
For business review of the Group for the Period, please refer to “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of
this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
As a responsible corporate citizen, the Company recognized its responsibility to protect the environment from
its business activities. The Group has endeavoured to comply with applicable laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopted effective environmental practices to ensure the business of the Group meet
the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental protection.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects of the Group would be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 26 June 2017 (the “Prospectus”) under
the section headed “Risk Factors”.
For principal risks of the Group for the Period, please refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the latest five financial years is set out on page 128 of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the Period are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer its new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the Period are set out in note 35(b)
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 70 of this
annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
No distributable reserves was available for distribution as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

DONATIONS
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, charitable and other donations made by the Group were less than
HK$30,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Period, the Group has no major customers due to the nature of the principal activities of the Group.
The Group’s largest and five largest suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 9.3% (2021:
approximately 10.1%) and 34.2% (2021: approximately 37.7%) of the Group’s total purchases respectively.
To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor any of their close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) nor any Shareholders who or which own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers during the Period.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Period and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tam Chak Chi
Mr. Xu Xue

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cai Chun Fai
Mr. Ong King Keung
Mr. Tang Yiu Kay
Ms. Yuan Xiaoxi
Mr. Tong Zhu
Mr. Deng Guo Hong
Mr. Lai Kim Fung

(resigned on 9 April 2021)
(resigned on 11 May 2021)
(appointed on 18 June 2021)
(appointed on 9 April 2021 and resigned on 30 September 2021)
(appointed on 30 September 2021)
(resigned on 5 January 2022)
(appointed on 5 January 2022)

Pursuant to article 112 of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition Director but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the maximum number
determined from time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election. Any Director appointed under such article shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual general meeting. As such, Mr. Tong Zhu and Mr.
Lai Kim Fung shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.
Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, notwithstanding any other provisions in the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. As
such, Mr. Xu Xue shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
The biographical details of the Directors are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of one year with
effect from their respective date of appointment and thereafter shall continue year to year unless terminated by
either party. Either party has the right to give not less than one month’s written notice to terminate the letter of
appointment.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed or entered into any service agreement or appointment
letter with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than the statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets or profits of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company had complied with all the applicable code provisions as set out
in the CG Code during the Period.
Details of the principal corporate governance practices of the Group are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 13 to 25 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The Directors and senior management of the Company receive compensation in the form of directors’ fees,
salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses the Directors and senior management of
the Company for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for provision of services to the Group
or executing their functions in relation to the Group’s operations. The Group regularly reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior management by reference to, among other
things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, respective responsibilities of
the Directors and performance of the Group. The Directors may also be offered options under share option scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors nor chief executives of the Company and their respective associates had
any interests and short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which are required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealing
by directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY
So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2022, the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive
of the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions (directly or indirectly) in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company that would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares of the Company

Name of Shareholder
Global Succeed Group Limited
(“Global Succeed”)
Mr. Chan Lin So Alan
(“Mr. Chan”)
Mr. Yiu Koon Pong (“Mr. Yiu”)

Number of shares

Percentage
of issued share
capital of
the Company

Beneficial owner (Notes 1 & 2)

160,000,000

25.40%

Interest in a controlled corporation

160,000,000

25.40%

Interest in a controlled corporation

160,000,000

25.40%

Nature of interest/
holding capacity

Notes:
1.

Global Succeed is the direct shareholder of the Company. According to the information available to the Company, Global
Succeed is beneficially owned as to 50% by Mr. Chan and 50% by Mr. Yiu. By virtue of the SFO, each of Mr. Chan and Mr. Yiu
was deemed to be interested in the 160,000,000 shares of the Company held by Global Succeed as at 31 March 2022.
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2.

Global Succeed holds 210,000,000 shares of the Company as at 31 March 2021. During the year, Global Succeed further
disposed its shares of the Company in total of 50,000,000 shares on 31 August 2021, 18 October 2021, 15 December
2021 and 5 January 2022 respectively (the “Disposals”). After the Disposals, Global Succeed holds 160,000,000 shares of
the Company as at 31 March 2022. By virtue of the SFO, each of Mr. Chan and Mr. Yiu is deemed to be interested in the
160,000,000 shares of the Company held by Global Succeed.
During the year, 48,000,000 placing shares and 102,000,000 placing shares have been allotted and issued to not less than six
places pursuant to the general mandate of the Company on 30 April 2021 and 28 March 2022 respectively (the “Placings”).
As a result, the shareholding interests in the Company held by Global Succeed was diluted from 43.75% to approximately
25.40%. After the Placings, Mr. Chan, Mr. Yiu and Global Succeed becomes the substantial shareholders of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors were not aware of any other persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interest or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company would fall to be required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme as set out below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by our Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 19 June 2017 for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants for their contribution to our Group and/or to enable our
Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and
any invested entity.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant options to eligible persons. Eligible persons of the Share
Option Scheme include, among others, any employee (whether full-time or part-time employee), director (including
non-executive director and independent non-executive director), supplier, customer, adviser (professional or
otherwise), shareholder of any member of the Group (the “Participants”).
The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on the listing date of the Company (the “Listing
Date”). The Company may refresh the 10% limit by seeking prior approval from the Shareholders in a general
meeting, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options and any other
share option schemes of the Company, in aggregate, must not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as
at the date of such Shareholders’ approval of the refreshed limit.
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No Participant shall be granted options which if exercised in full would result in the total number of Shares already
issued under all the options granted to him which have been exercised and issuable under all the options granted to
him which are for the time being subsisting and unexercised in any 12-month period would exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue, provided that if approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such Participant and
his close associates (or his associates if such Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting, our Company
may make further grant of options to such Participant (the “Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant
would result in the total number of Shares already issued under all the options granted to such Participant which
have been exercised and issuable under all the options granted to him which are for the time being subsisting and
unexercised in any 12-month period exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.
If a grant of option to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director or their respective
associates will result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
(whether exercised, cancelled or and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of Shares in issue; and (ii) having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million, then
the proposed grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting.
Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the Directors may determine which shall not exceed ten
years from the date of grant. The subscription price is determined by the Board in its absolution discretion at the time
of the grant of the relevant option buy in any case the relevant subscription price shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of
the option, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on 19 June 2017, the adoption
date and ending on the tenth anniversary of the adoption date (both dates inclusive) or unless terminated earlier by
the Shareholders in general meeting.
Up to the date of this report, no share option had been granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, neither Director nor a connected entity of
a Director had any material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract of
significance to the business of the Group, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
Period.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as otherwise disclosed under the sections “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations” and “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any
of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company or
their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
None of the Directors or the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any business or interest in a business that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION
On 19 June 2017, Global Succeed Group Limited, Mr. Yiu Koon Pong and Mr. Chan Lin So Alan (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company (for itself and each of
the subsidiaries of the Company). Pursuant to which each of the Controlling Shareholders, irrevocably and
unconditionally, jointly and severally, undertakes to and covenants to the Company (for itself and as trustee for other
members of the Group), among others, that with effect from the Listing Date and for as long as the shares of the
Company remain listed on the Stock Exchange and the Controlling Shareholders, individually or collectively with their
close associates, are, directly or indirectly, interested in not less than 30% of the Shares in issue, or are otherwise
regarded as controlling shareholders under the GEM Listing Rules, each of the Controlling Shareholders shall not,
and shall procure each of his/its close associates (other than the Group) not to, whether on his/its own account or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company and whether directly or indirectly (other than through
the Group), whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent, or otherwise (other than being a director
of shareholder of the Group or members of the Group), carry on or be engaged in, directly or indirectly, a business
which is, or be interested or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any rights or interest (save for the holding
in aggregate by the Controlling Shareholders and their close associates of not more than 5% shareholding interest
in any company listed on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange) or otherwise involved in (in each case
whether as a shareholder, partner, agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any business
which competes or may in any aspect compete directly or indirectly with the business or which is similar to the
business currently and may from time to time engaged by the Group. Please refer to the section “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholders – Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.
To the best knowledge of and information available to the Directors, each of the Controlling Shareholders has
complied with the aforesaid undertaking during the year ended 31 March 2022 and upon the date (i.e. 28 March
2022) on which the Controlling Shareholders interest is less than 30% of the Shares in issue and has become
substantial shareholders of the Company, the aforesaid undertaking will not take effect on the substantial
shareholders thereafter. The Independent non-executive Directors, based on the information available to them,
consider the aforesaid undertakings have been complied with and the aforesaid undertakings no longer has effects
on the substantial shareholders.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of related party transactions of the Group during the Period are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has not entered into other
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction during the Period which should be disclosed pursuant to
the requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, no other significant event after the reporting
period of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 March
2022 as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been audited by McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
By order of the Board

Tam Chak Chi
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 23 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of
Ocean Star Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ocean Star Technology Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss
of approximately HK$18,805,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022, and as at 31 March 2022, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$15,066,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Notwithstanding the
above, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is
dependent upon the outcomes of the Group as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to obtain
source of funding in the immediate and longer term, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital requirements
of the Group. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are (i) valuation and allowance of inventories
and (ii) impairment of investments in associates.
Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and allowance of inventories
Refer to significant accounting policies in note 4(g),
key source of estimation uncertainties in note 5(c) and
its relevant disclosures in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.
The Group had inventories with carrying amount of
approximately HK$23,551,000 as at 31 March 2022. The
carrying amount of inventories contributed a significant
part of the Group’s total current assets as at 31 March
2022.
The Group’s allowance for inventories is based on
management’s estimate of the expected magnitude of
write down of the Group’s inventories to its net realisable
value during the course of the manufacturing process,
current and projected demand from customers for the
relevant inventories, the condition and utilisation potential
of individual inventories and other customer-specific
conditions, all of which involve the exercise of a significant
degree of management judgement.
We have identified the inventories as a key audit matter
because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and because the estimation of net realisable
value as well as related allowance made together with
future sales forecasts involves significant management
judgements. Actual sales are likely to be different from
those estimates or forecast since anticipated events
sometimes do not occur as expected and unforeseen
events may arise, and their impact on estimates and
forecast may be material.

Our procedures in relation to this matter included:
–

Evaluating the Group’s internal control policy
over allowance for inventories with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

–

Identifying and assessing slow-moving and
obsolete inventories when attending physical
inventory count;

–

Comparing inventory balances on a sample basis
with respective balances in prior years to identify
inventories which are relatively slow moving;

–

Evaluating and assessing whether management
had identified obsolete or slow-moving
inventories appropriately and checked against
respective sales volume and prices, if any,
subsequent to the reporting date on sample
basis for their consumption and valuation to
assess whether those obsolete or slow-moving
inventories identified had been accounted for in
the inventory provision calculation;

–

Enquiring the management about any expected
changes in plans for production and forecast
sales trends and compared their representations
with actual sales and inventory movements
subsequent to the reporting date; and

–

Challenging the appropriateness and
reasonableness of the management’s
assumption.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of investments in associates
Refer to significant accounting policies in note 4(c),
key source of estimation uncertainties in note 5(b) and
its relevant disclosures in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.
The Group had investments in associates with carrying
amount of approximately HK$5,100,000 as at 31 March
2022. The carrying amount of investments in associates
contributed a significant part of the Group’s total current
assets as at 31 March 2022.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, the recoverable
amount of the investments in associates was determined
by the valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer engaged by management based on
fair value less costs of disposal by market approach.
We had identified the impairment of investments in
associates as key audit matter because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and the Group’s
assessment of impairment of investments in associates
is a judgmental process which requires estimates
concerning the methods and assumptions to be applied in
determining its valuation based on fair value less costs of
disposal. The adoption of key assumptions and input data
may be subject to management bias and changes in these
assumptions and input to valuation model may result in
significant financial impact.

Our procedures in relation to this matter included:
–

Understanding with management about the
technological, market, legal environment and
economic performance of associates to assess
management’s identification of impairment
indicators;

–

Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
used in the valuation under fair value less costs
of disposal calculation;

–

Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to
review the appropriateness of the valuation
approach, the accuracy of the calculations in the
valuation model and the market data used on a
sample basis;

–

Communicating with independent professional
valuer on the methodology and assumptions used
in the valuation and assessing the competence,
independence and integrity by considering the
professional qualification of professional valuer;
and

–

Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in
connection with the interests in associates.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other
Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hui Chi Kong
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number – P07348
24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai
Hong Kong
Hong Kong, 23 June 2022

066/

Ocean Star Technology Group Limited
Annual Report 2021-22

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2022
2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

46,587

53,431

Cost of sales

(12,050)

(11,234)

Gross profit

34,537

42,197

1,159
(3,083)
(22,878)
(19,183)
(85)
–

5,749
6,618
(19,374)
(17,699)
(290)
(7,153)

(9,533)

10,048

(976)
(564)
(7,596)

(863)
(1,707)
(3,053)

(18,669)

4,425

Note
Revenue

Other income
Other gains and losses
Selling expenses
Administrative and other operating expenses
Impairment losses of other receivables
Impairment losses of amount due from an associate

9

10
11

(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance costs
Share of loss of an associate
Impairment losses of investments in associates

12

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax expense

13

(136)

(724)

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the owners
of the Company

14

(18,805)

3,701

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax:
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations

171

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to the owners of the Company

(92)

(18,634)

3,609

(Loss)/earnings per share
Basic (HK cents)

19(a)

(3.58)

0.77

Diluted (HK cents)

19(b)

(3.58)

0.77
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 March 2022

Note
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investments in associates
Goodwill
Other receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
Amount due from a shareholder
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Current tax liabilities

20
21
22
23
25

24
25
26
27
28
28

29
30
31

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)
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31

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

3,263
15,833
5,100
–
4,421

3,294
9,361
13,260
440
3,975

28,617

30,330

23,551
18,169
2,885
173
200
21,897

23,908
3,613
–
173
–
3,700

66,875

31,394

5,881
65,246
9,862
952

4,533
74,027
7,121
816

81,941

86,497

(15,066)

(55,103)

13,551

(24,773)

6,948

3,904

6,603

(28,677)

Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position (continued)
At 31 March 2022

Note
Equity
Share capital
Reserves

33
34

Total equity/(capital deficiency)

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

6,300
303

4,800
(33,477)

6,603

(28,677)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2022.

Xu Xue
Director

Tam Chak Chi
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Capital
reserve
HK$’000
(note 34(b))

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
HK$’000
(note 34(c))

Statutory
reserve
HK$’000
(note 34(d))

Accumulated
losses
HK$’000

Total
equity/
(capital
deficiency)
HK$’000

34,250

(34)

281

525

(72,108)

(32,286)

–
–

–
–

–
–

(92)
–

–
36

3,701
(36)

3,609
–

–

–

–

(92)

36

3,665

3,609

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

4,800

34,250

(34)

189

561

(68,443)

(28,677)

Placing of new shares under
general mandate (note 33(a)
and 33(b))
Share issue expenses
Loss and total comprehensive
income for the year

1,500
–

53,040
(626)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

54,540
(626)

–

–

–

171

–

(18,805)

(18,634)

Changes in equity for the year

1,500

52,414

–

171

–

(18,805)

35,280

At 31 March 2022

6,300

86,664

(34)

360

561

(87,248)

6,603

Share
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
HK$’000
(note 34(a))

4,800

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year
Appropriations
Changes in equity for the year

As at 1 April 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Allowance for inventories
COVID-19 Related rent concessions received
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Finance costs
Impairment losses of amount due from an associate
Impairment losses of goodwill
Impairment losses of investments in associates
Impairment losses of other receivables
Reversals of impairment losses of property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses/(reversals of impairment losses) of right-of-use
assets
Interest income
Unrealised loss on financial assets at FVTPL
Share of loss of an associate
Write off of inventories
Write off of deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Write off of property, plant and equipment

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

(18,669)

4,425

996
(399)
2,048
9,612
976
–
440
7,596
85
–

8
(1,416)
2,852
10,354
863
7,153
–
3,053
290
(1,260)

529
(1)
56
564
148
925
–

(6,140)
(7)
–
1,707
–
–
754

Operating profit before working capital changes
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in financial asset at FVTPL
Increase in amount due from a shareholder
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Decrease in contract liabilities

4,906
(321)
(16,004)
(2,941)
–
1,035
(8,783)

22,636
2,045
1,450
–
(19)
(49)
(12,945)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Macao Complementary Tax paid
Interest on lease liabilities

(22,108)
–
(958)

13,118
(40)
(818)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

(23,066)

12,260

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits
Interest received

(2,006)
(200)
1

(397)
835
7

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities

(2,205)

445
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Note
Cash flow from financing activities
Principal elements of lease payments
Proceed from placing of new shares
Share issue expenses

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

(10,452)
54,540
(626)

(12,336)
–
–

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities

43,462

(12,336)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

18,191

369

6

62

3,700

3,269

21,897

3,700

21,897

3,700

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2022

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Ocean Star Technology Group Limited (formerly known as “My Heart Bodibra Group Limited”) (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 27 May 2016. The address
of its registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at 1F., Lok Kui Industrial Building,
6–8 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 13 July 2017 (the “Listing”).
Pursuant to a special resolution passed on extraordinary general meeting on 20 August 2021, the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman Islands has issued the Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name on 25 August
2021, the English name of the Company has been changed from “My Heart Bodibra Group Limited” to “Ocean
Star Technology Group Limited” and the dual foreign name in Chinese of the Company has been changed from
“心心芭迪貝伊集團有限公司” to “海納星空科技集團有限公司”.
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$18,805,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 and as at 31
March 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$15,066,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company have given
careful consideration to the impact of the current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group. The validity of
the Group to operate as a going concern is dependent upon the successful outcomes of the Group to (i) attain
profitable and positive cash flows from operations; and (ii) obtain external source of funding, at a level sufficient
to finance the working capital requirements of the Group for the next twelve months. Having considered the
above scenarios, the directors considered that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
these consolidated financial statements. In order to strengthen the Group’s capital base and liquidity in the
foreseeable future, the Group has taken the following measures:
•

the directors of the Company have been taking various cost control measures to tighten the costs of
operations and implementing various strategies to enhance the Group’s revenue.

•

proposed rights issue in order to finance the Group’s operation and business development. Details of
which is set out in note 43(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern assumption (continued)
Based on the cash flow projections of the Group after taken into account the available financial resources of
the Group with the above measures, the directors have concluded that the Group is able to continue as a going
concern and to meet their financial liabilities as and when they fall due for the next twelve months. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis.
Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 9, HKAS39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021.
Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform – Phrase 2
The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i) accounting for changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as modifications, and
(ii) discontinuing hedge accounting when an interest rate benchmark is replaced by an alternative
benchmark rate as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates (“IBOR reform”).
The amendments do not have an impact on these financial statements as the Group does not have
contracts that are indexed to benchmark interest rates which are subject to the IBOR reform.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs (continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)
Amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
The Group previously applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 16 such that as lessee it was not required
to assess whether rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic were
lease modifications, if the eligibility conditions are met. One of these conditions requires the reduction
in lease payments affect only payments originally due on or before a specified time limit. The 2021
amendment extends this time limit from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022.
The Group has early adopted the 2021 amendment in this financial year. With the extended time limit,
certain rent concessions that were previously ineligible for the practical expedient because of the original
time limit, become eligible. Accordingly, these rent concessions, which were previously accounted for as
lease modifications, are now accounted for as negative variable lease payments, and are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurred. There is
no impact on the opening balance of accumulated losses at 1 April 2021.

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
Other than the amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, the
Group has not early applied any new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
for the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2021. These new and revised HKFRSs include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combination – Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before
Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 Cycle
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements – Disclosure of
Accounting Policies
Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors – Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction

1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2022
1 January 2023
1 January 2023

1 January 2023
1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair value).
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set
out below.

(a) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.
The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.
Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Business combination and goodwill
The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair value
of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred
and the services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.
The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.
In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the consideration transferred in a business
combination to calculate the goodwill.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest
level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill
impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.
Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses and other comprehensive income
is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.
The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s entire carrying amount of that associate (including goodwill)
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.
Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Foreign currency translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:
–

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

–

Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

–

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:
Leasehold improvements
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Over the shorter of the term of the lease and 3 years
20%–33.33%
20%
20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.
The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

(f) Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
The Group as lessee
At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except
for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which,
for the Group are primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)
Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-ofuse assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, except for the right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
are carried at fair value.
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the Group took
advantage of the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions are lease modification,
and recognised the change in consideration as negative lease payments in profit or loss in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as cost of sales in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised in the profit or loss in the period of writedown or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories recognised as an
increment in the amount of inventories and recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

(h) Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.
When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

(i)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j)

Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Debt investments
Debt instruments held by the Group are classified into amortised cost if the investments is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the effective interest method.
Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but
may only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified
as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

(k) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.
Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

(l)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

(n) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

(o) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

(p) Revenue and other income
Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being at the
point the customer purchases the goods at the retail stores. Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately at the point the customer purchases the goods. Under the Group’s standard contract terms,
customers have a right of return within 7 days. At the point of sale, a refund liability and a corresponding
adjustment to revenue is recognised for those products expected to be returned. At the same time, the
Group has a right to recover the product when customers exercise their right of return so consequently
recognises a right to returned goods asset and a corresponding adjustment to cost of sales. The Group
uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate the number of returns on a portfolio level using
the expected value method. It is considered highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur given the consistent level of returns over previous years.
Revenue from beauty service is recognised at the point of time when the services are rendered.
Receipts in advance from credit package, member voucher and beauty package are recognised as
contract liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position, and are recognised as revenue
when control of the goods has transferred or services are rendered as described in the above accounting
policy for revenue from the sale of goods and provision of services.
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Employee benefits
(i)

Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii)

Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and
involves the payment of termination benefits.

(r) Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be received.
Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

(s) Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(t) Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a related party is a person or entity that is
related to the Group.
(A)
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A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or a parent of the Company.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Related parties (continued)
(B)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:
(i)

The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the Company.

(u) Impairment of non-financial asset
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.
Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit.
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.
Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and then
pro rata amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the recoverable
amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.
For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group’s core operations.
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:
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–

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

–

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
–
existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
–

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

–

significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

–

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i)

The financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(ii)

The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii)

Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.
–

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

–

information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is creditimpaired includes observable data about the following events:
–

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

–

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

–

the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

–

it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
or

–

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying
amount at the reporting date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the
specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.
For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow is remote.

(x) Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the
end of the reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are
adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
when material.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart from
those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).
(a)

Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the successful outcomes of the Group to attain profitable and positive cash flows
from operations and obtain external source of funding. Details are explained in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(b)

Significant increase in credit risk
ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2
or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
(a)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets),
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 March 2022 were
approximately HK$3,263,000 (2021: HK$3,294,000) and HK$15,833,000 (2021: HK$9,361,000) respectively.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(b)

Investments in associates
Investments in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the investments associates exceeds their recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference to the fair value less costs of disposal. Calculation of fair
value by market approach requires valuation technique which used price and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical and comparable group of assets and liabilities or
business, a suitable discount rate and marketability discount rate. Where the fair value less costs of
disposal are less than expected or there are unfavourable events and change in facts and circumstance
which result in revision of fair value less costs of disposal, a material impairment loss may arise.
Impairment losses of investments in associates of approximately HK$7,596,000 (2021: HK$3,053,000) was
made for the year ended 31 March 2022.

(c)

Allowance for slow-moving inventories
The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment of the ageing and net realisable
value of inventories. Allowances are applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories or that the inventories have
no further use. The assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.
Allowance for slow-moving inventories of approximately HK$996,000 (2021: HK$8,000) was made for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

(d)

Recognition of contract liabilities
Receipts in advance from credit package, member voucher and beauty package are recognised as
contract liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. Subsequently, the amounts will be
recognised as revenue when the customers make the purchase using the credits purchased. The credit
package is a programme offered to the Group’s customers and having a valid period of two years from
the date of purchase. Under the programme, the customers enjoy a pre-determined discount rate on
the marked price of the Group’s products in future purchases using the credits purchased and the predetermined discount rate varies depending on the initial lump-sum amount paid to subscribe for the credit
package. The Group, subject to internal approval, may extend the valid period and allow the customers to
continue to use the credit package to purchase goods after the expiry dates up to the fourth anniversary
of the date of original purchase.
Therefore, the directors of the Company are required to exercise judgement in the application of revenue
recognition policies. In such assessment, the directors of the Company consider the general practice and
grace period normally adopted by the Group as well as historical customer behaviour and usage pattern
of the credit package.
The revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities were approximately HK$41,221,000 (2021:
HK$46,508,000) for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

(b) Credit risk
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, amounts due from a shareholder and an associate,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. At the end of reporting period, the credit risk
on trade receivables is limited because the Group’s trade receivables are due from banks with good high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group uses four categories for other receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the loss
provision is determined for each of the categories. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category and adjusts for forward looking data.
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Category

Definition

Basis for recognition of
ECL provision

Performing

Low risk of default

12-month ECL

Underperforming

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

Non-performing

The counterparty will enter bankruptcy

Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired)

Write off

There is no reasonable expectation of
recovery

Amount is written off
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for other
receivables:

Internal credit rating

31 March 2022
Performing
Non-performing

31 March 2021
Performing
Non-performing

ECL rate

0.8%–1.1%
100%

0%
62%–100%

Gross
carrying
amount
HK$’000

Loss
allowance
HK$’000

Net
carrying
amount
HK$’000

7,023
33

(53)
(33)

6,970
–

7,056

(86)

6,970

17
1,276

–
(883)

17
393

1,293

(883)

410

Movement in the loss allowance for the other receivables during the year is as follows:
2022
HK$’000
At 1 April
Impairment losses recognised for the year
Write off
At 31 March

2021
HK$’000

883
85
(882)

593
290
–

86

883

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
For rental deposits and amount due from a shareholder, there were no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. The Group assessed the expected credit loss to be immaterial.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s lease liabilities bear interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair value
interest rate risks.
The Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank balances bear interests at variable interest rates and
therefore are subject to cash flow interest rate risks.
Except as stated above, the Group does not have other significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at
the end of reporting period, its income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates.
No sensitivity analysis is presented since the directors of the Company consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances is limited due to
their short maturities or the insignificant amounts involved.

(d) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay.
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities is as follows:
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Less than
1 year
HK$’000

1 to 2
years
HK$’000

2 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

31 March 2022
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

5,881
10,524

–
5,744

–
1,436

5,881
17,704

31 March 2021
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

4,533
7,610

–
3,165

–
929

4,533
11,704
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 March

Financial assets:
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

2,885
35,061

–
8,663

5,881

4,533

(f) Fair values
Except as disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value:
Level 1 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:

inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March:

Description

Recurring fair value measurements:
Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL
– Listed equity securities

Fair value measurements usings
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

2,885

–

–

Total
2022
HK$’000

2,885

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there were no transfers in the fair value hierarchy between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).

8. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
As the Group’s activities (other than design, manufacture and sales of lingerie products) do not meet the
quantitative thresholds of operating segment. Accordingly, the directors of the Company have determined
that the Group has only one operating and reportable segment, being the manufacture and sales of lingerie
products through its retail stores.
Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses only on revenue analysis by
nature of revenue and geographical location of customers.
Since this is the only one operating segment of the Group, no segment information is presented other than
entity-wide disclosures.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of operations and information about the its noncurrent assets (excluding investments in associates, goodwill and other receivables) by location of assets are as
follows:
Revenue

Hong Kong
Macau
The PRC (other than Hong Kong and Macau)

Non-current assets

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

41,952
4,535
100

47,830
5,593
8

18,868
127
101

11,331
1,006
318

46,587

53,431

19,096

12,655

Information about major customers
There was no revenue from individual customers of the Group contributing over 10% of the Group’s revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

9. REVENUE
Revenue represents the aggregation of net amounts received and receivable during the year. An analysis of the
Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

Products and services transferred at a point in time within the scope of
HKFRS 15:
Sales of lingerie products and other complementary and
ancillary products
Provision of beauty services

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

45,611
976

52,166
1,265

46,587

53,431
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10. OTHER INCOME

Bank interest income
COVID-19 rent concessions received
Government grants (note)
Others

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

1
399
45
714

7
1,416
3,941
385

1,159

5,749

Note: Government grants represent subsidies from government under the Employment Support Scheme, Retail Sector
Subsidy Scheme and Subsidy Scheme for Beauty Parlours, Massage Establishments and Party Rooms. At the end of
the reporting period, there is no unfulfilled conditions nor other contingencies attached to the government grants
remain unsatisfied.

11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
2022
HK$’000
Allowance for inventories
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)
Impairment losses of goodwill
Reversals of impairment losses of property, plant and equipment
(Impairment losses)/reversals of impairment losses of right-of-use assets
Unrealised losses on financial assets at FVTPL
Write off of deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Write off of inventories
Write off of property, plant and equipment

2021
HK$’000

(996)
11
(440)
–
(529)
(56)
(925)
(148)
–

(8)
(20)
–
1,260
6,140
–
–
–
(754)

(3,083)

6,618

12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest expenses on lease liabilities
Other interest expenses

100/
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2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

958
18

818
45

976

863
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax – Provision for the year
– Hong Kong Profits Tax
– Macao Complementary Tax

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

–
136

500
224

136

724

For the year ended 31 March 2022, under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of a
Group’s qualifying subsidiary established in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25% (2021: 8.25%), and profits above
that amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of the Group’s entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered Profit Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%).
For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in Macau is subject to Macao Complementary Tax, under
which taxable income up to MOP600,000 is exempted from taxation with taxable income beyond this amount
to be taxed at the rate of 12% for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
For the Group’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are subject to PRC EIT at the rate of 25%
(2021: 25%). No provision for EIT is made since the Group has no assessable profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: Nil).
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the
Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:
2022
HK$’000
(Loss)/profit before tax
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible
Tax effect of share of results of an associate
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised
Tax benefits
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
Income tax expense

2021
HK$’000

(18,669)

4,425

(3,080)
(76)
2,564
93
648
258
(11)
(72)
(188)

730
(652)
2,546
282
83
(525)
(1,416)
(77)
(247)

136
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14. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Allowance for inventories
Auditor’s remuneration
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in cost of sales, selling
expenses and administrative and other operating expenses)
Expenses relating to variable lease payment not included in measurement
of lease liabilities (included in selling expenses)
Impairment losses of amount due from an associate
Impairment losses of goodwill
Impairment losses of investments in associates
Impairment losses of other receivables
Reversals of impairment losses of property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses/(reversals of impairment losses) of right-of-use assets
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses
Unrealised losses on financial assets at FVTPL
Write off of deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Write off of inventories
Write off of property, plant and equipment
Staff cost (including directors’ emoluments)
– Salaries, bonuses and allowances
– Retirement benefit scheme contributions

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

996
650
12,050
2,048
9,612

8
600
11,234
2,852
10,354

1,787

646

59
–
440
7,596
85
–
529
(11)
56
925
148
–

35
7,153
–
3,053
290
(1,260)
(6,140)
20
–
–
–
754

22,041
1,224

18,860
717

23,265

19,577

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as
follows:

Fees
Other emoluments
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Retirement benefit scheme contributions
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2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

498

349

1,105
18

1,126
21

1,123

1,147

1,621

1,496
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Fees
HK$’000
31 March 2022
Executive directors
Mr. Tam Chak Chi (note (ii))
Mr. Xu Xue (note (iii))

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Ong King Keung (note (iv))
Mr. Cai Chun Fai (note (v))
Mr. Deng Guo Hong (note (vii))
Ms. Yuen Xiaoxi (note (viii))
Mr. Tang Yiu Kay (note (ix))
Mr. Tong Zhu (note (x))
Mr. Lai Kim Fung (note (xi))

31 March 2021
Executive directors
Mr. Wong Wai Kit (note (i))
Mr. Tam Chak Chi (note (ii))
Mr. Xu Xue (note (iii))

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Ong King Keung (note (iv))
Mr. Cai Chun Fai (note (v))
Ms. Chan Ka Ming (note (vi))
Mr. Deng Guo Hong (note (vii))

Salaries,
Retirement
allowances
benefit
and benefits
scheme
in kind contributions
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–

455
650

18
–

473
650

–

1,105

18

1,123

44
33
107
57
124
90
43

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

44
33
107
57
124
90
43

498

–

–

498

Fees
HK$’000

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
HK$’000

Retirement
benefit
scheme
contributions
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–
–

197
406
523

3
18
–

200
424
523

–

1,126

21

1,147

116
116
13
104

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

116
116
13
104

349

–

–

349
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Notes:
(i)

Mr. Wong Wai Kit resigned as an executive director on 14 May 2020. Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
and retirement benefit scheme contributions of approximately HK$348,000 paid to him during the year ended
31 March 2021 after his resignation as an executive director had not been included in the above emolument
analysis.

(ii)

Mr. Tam Chak Chi was appointed as the Company Secretary on 1 August 2020. Company Secretary fee of
approximately HK$195,000 (2021: HK$120,000) paid to him during the year ended 2022 had not been included in
the above emolument analysis.

(iii)

Mr. Xu Xue was appointed as an executive director on 14 May 2020.

(iv)

Mr. Ong King Keung resigned as an independent non-executive director on 11 May 2021.

(v)

Mr. Cai Chun Fai resigned as an independent non-executive director on 9 April 2021.

(vi)

Ms. Chan Ka Ming resigned as an independent non-executive director on 14 May 2020.

(vii)

Mr. Deng Guo Hong resigned as an independent non-executive director on 5 January 2022.

(viii)

Ms. Yuen Xiaoxi was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 9 April 2021 and resigned on 30
September 2021.

(ix)

Mr. Tang Yiu Kay was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 18 June 2021.

(x)

Mr. Tong Zhu was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 30 September 2021.

(xi)

Mr. Lai Kim Fung was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 5 January 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any emolument during the
year (2021: Nil).
During the year, no emolument has been paid to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group; or as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).
There was no discretionary bonus paid or payable to any of the directors during the year (2021: Nil).

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
Save for disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, no other significant transaction,
arrangement and contract in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included one director (2021: one director) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. The
emoluments of the remaining four (2021: four) individuals are set out below:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Discretionary bonus
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

2,285
164
74

1,576
228
67

2,523

1,871

During the year, no emolument has been paid to any highest paid employee as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).
The number of non-directors, highest paid employees, whose emoluments fell within the following bands, is as
follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000

2022

2021

4

4

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
(i)

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong
In compliance with the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to participate in the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme of the Group (the “MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
plan administered by an independent corporate trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and
the employees are required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions made to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

(ii) Employees of the Group in Macau
The Group participates social benefit scheme which is Social Security Benefits under the Social Security
Fund of Government of the Macau SAR (the “Macau Scheme”). The Macau Scheme is the first tier of the
two-tier social security system under the Macau SAR Law No. 4/2010 (Social Security System) effective
on 1 January 2011. The current social security coverage covers all residents in Macau SAR to allow them
to receive basic old-age security. As stipulated in the Executive Order of Macau SAR with effect from 1
January 2017, the contribution amounts for the long-term employee are MOP90 per month (employer’s
contribution: MOP60, employee’s contribution: MOP30). In accordance with the provisions of Macau SAR
Law No. 4/2010, the employer can deduct the employee’s portion of contributions from his/her wages.

Ocean Star Technology Group Limited
Annual Report 2021-22

/105

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (continued)
(iii) Employees of the Group in the PRC
Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, employees of the Group in the PRC
participated in the central pension scheme (the “PRC Scheme”), which is a defined contribution plan
administered by the PRC government, whereby the Group is required to make contributions to the
PRC Scheme based on certain percentages of the eligible employees’ salaries. The local government
authorities are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.
Contributions made to the PRC Scheme vest immediately.
The Group’s contributions under the abovementioned defined contribution plans in Hong Kong, Macau and the
PRC are expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
defined contribution plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

18. DIVIDEND
No dividend had been paid or declared by the Company during the year (2021: Nil).

19. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the following:
2022
HK$’000
(Loss)/profit
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of calculating basic and diluted
(loss)/earnings per share

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

(18,805)

2021
HK$’000

3,701

2022

2021

525,172,603

480,000,000

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
No diluted (loss)/earnings per share is presented as the Company did not have any dilutive potential
ordinary share during the two years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
improvements
HK$’000

Equipment
HK$’000

Furniture
and fixtures
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2020
Additions
Write off
Exchange differences

9,763

3,817

478

3,040

17,098

360
(3,962)
33

31
(658)
31

6
(246)
17

–
(135)
6

397
(5,001)
87

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

6,194

3,221

255

2,911

12,581

Additions
Write off
Exchange differences

1,164
(2,256)
18

223
(220)
15

231
(1)
5

388
(1,692)
–

2,006
(4,169)
38

At 31 March 2022

5,120

3,239

490

1,607

10,456

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
At 1 April 2020

7,421

1,900

350

2,220

11,891

Charge for the year
Write off
Reversals of impairment losses
Exchange differences

1,840
(3,320)
(1,260)
10

636
(546)
–
23

46
(246)
–
12

330
(135)
–
6

2,852
(4,247)
(1,260)
51

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

4,691

2,013

162

2,421

9,287

Charge for the year
Write off
Exchange differences

1,161
(2,256)
11

556
(220)
13

65
(1)
3

266
(1,692)
–

2,048
(4,169)
27

At 31 March 2022

3,607

2,362

229

995

7,193

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2022

1,513

877

261

612

3,263

At 31 March 2021

1,503

1,208

93

490

3,294

During the year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the CGU and no impairment loss (2021:
reversals of impairment losses of approximately HK$1,260,000) was recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss in respect of property, plant and equipment attributable to that CGU. Details of the impairment assessment
are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

At 1 April
Additions
Depreciation
(Impairment losses)/reversals of impairment losses of right-of-use assets

9,361
16,613
(9,612)
(529)

10,077
3,498
(10,354)
6,140

At 31 March

15,833

9,361

The Group has carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its CGU of lingerie product at the end of
reporting period with reference to the independent valuation performed by an independent valuer, Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited (“Ravia Global”). The recoverable amount is assessed based on fair value less cost
of disposal by using income approach basis under level 3 fair value measurement. The key assumptions for
the income approached are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and
turnover of the CGU of lingerie product. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU of lingerie product.
The growth rates are based on long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the
businesses of the CGU of lingerie product operates. Budgeted gross margin and turnover of the CGU are based
on past practices and expectations on market development.
The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the
directors for the next five years with the residual period using the growth rate of 3% (2021: 3%). This rate does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.
The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 10.92% (2021: 12.38%).
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group put in much effort to (1) enhance the operational efficiency
and strengthen the cost control measures; (2) cease the operation of a non-profit-making retail outlet; (3)
reduce the production capacity and enhance the inventory management; and (4) actively negotiate with
business partners including suppliers and landlords on mitigating measures. As a result, the Group recorded a
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Accordingly, during the year ended 31 March 2022, no impairment loss (2021: reversal of impairment losses of
approximately HK$6,140,000) was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss as the recoverable amount of
the CGU of lingerie product is higher (2021: higher) than its carrying amount as at 31 March 2022.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, impairment losses of approximately HK$529,000 (2021: Nil) was
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss as the recoverable amount of the CGU of beauty services is lower
than its carrying amount as at 31 March 2022.
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21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Lease liabilities of approximately HK$16,810,000 (2021: HK$11,025,000) are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$15,833,000 (2021: HK$9,361,000) as at 31 March 2022.
2022
HK$’000
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets
Impairment losses/(reversals of impairment losses) of right-of-use assets
COVID-19 rent concessions received
Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in finance costs)
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in cost of sales, selling
expenses and administrative and other operating expenses)
Expenses relating to variable lease payment not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities (included in selling expenses)

9,612
529
(399)
958

2021
HK$’000
10,354
(6,140)
(1,416)
818

1,787

646

59

35

As disclosed in note 3, the Group has early adopted the Amendments to HKFRS 16: COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, and applied the practical expedient introduced by the Amendments to all
eligible rent concessions received by the Group during the period. Further details are disclosed below.
For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses, and retail stores for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 3 years (2021: 1 to 5 years). Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain variable lease payment terms that are based on
sales generated from the retail stores and minimum annual lease payment terms that are fixed. These payment
terms are common in retail stores in Hong Kong where the Group operates. The amount of fixed and variable
lease payments recognised in profit or loss for the year is summarised below:
2022
HK$’000
Retails stores
Fixed payments
Variable payments
COVID-19 rent concessions received

2021
HK$’000

9,272
59
(399)

12,648
35
(1,416)

8,932

11,267
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Unlisted shares, at cost
Share of net assets
Goodwill

Less: impairment losses of investments in associates

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

4,967
27,159

5,531
27,159

32,126
(27,026)

32,690
(19,430)

5,100

13,260

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 March 2022 are as follows:
Place of
incorporation

Issued and
paid up
capital

Percentage
of ownership Principal
interest
activities

Ocean Trader Limited
(“Ocean Trader”) (note (i))

Hong Kong

HK$100

25%

Inactive

Honour Achieve International
Investment Limited
(“Honour Achieve”) (note (ii))

BVI

US$10,000

34%

Provision of medical
aesthetic service

Name

Notes:
(i)

Ocean Trader was incorporated in Hong Kong on 28 July 2017, with issued share capital of HK$100.
The Group has not recognised loss (2021: profit) for the year amounting to approximately HK$1,044,000 (2021:
HK$223,000) for Ocean Trader. The accumulated losses not recognised were approximately HK$2,544,000 (2021:
HK$1,500,000). Therefore, the Group did not share its results during the year ended 31 March 2022.

(ii)

On 11 January 2019, the Group acquired 34% of equity interest in Honour Achieve at a cash consideration of
HK$32,640,000. Honour Achieve was incorporated in the BVI on 8 March 2016, with issued share capital of US$10,000.
The Group has carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its investments in associates at the end of
reporting period with reference to the independent valuation performed by an independent valuer, Ravia Global. The
recoverable amount is assessed based on fair value less cost of disposal by using market approach basis under level
3 fair value measurement. The key assumptions are the Price-to-Earnings Ratio, Control Premium and discount of lack
of marketability.
The Price-to-Earnings Ratio use in the valuation is 14.68 (2021: 14.03). The control premium and discount of lack of
marketability are 20% and 16% (2021: 20% and 16%) respectively.
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, the business of Honour Achieve was significantly affected by
epidemic of COVID-19 Pandemic.
Accordingly, impairment losses of approximately HK$7,596,000 (2021: HK$3,053,000) is recognised for the year ended
31 March 2022 as the recoverable amount of the investments in associates is lower than its carrying amount as at 31
March 2022.
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
The following table shows information on an associate that are material to the Group. This associate is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the management account of the associate.

Name

2022
Honour Achieve

Principal place of business/country of incorporation

Hong Kong/BVI

2021

Principal activities

Provision of medical
aesthetic service

% of ownership interests/voting rights held by the Group

34%/34%

34%/34%

HK$’000

HK$’000

At 31 March:
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

683
39,065
(25,139)

1,148
48,307
(33,188)

14,609

16,267

Group’s share of net assets
Goodwill
Impairment losses of investments in associate

4,967
27,159
(27,026)

5,531
27,159
(19,430)

Group’s share of carrying amount of interests

5,100

13,260

Year ended 31 March:
Revenue

18,204

14,126

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year

(1,658)

(4,849)

Net assets
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23. GOODWILL

Cost
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary and at 31 March
Accumulated impairment losses
Impairment losses recognised
Carrying amount
At 31 March

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

440

440

(440)

–

–

440

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the CGU that are expected to benefit
from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated to Dynasty Investment (HK)
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, which is preparing to engage in money lending business and considered
to be one individual CGU.
The Group has carried out a review of the recoverable amount of the CGU as at 31 March 2021 with reference
to the valuation performed by an independent valuer, Ravia Global. The recoverable amount is assessed based
on fair value less costs of disposal by using direct sales comparison method, under market approach, basis
under level 3 fair value measurement.
The key assumption of this direct sales comparison method are refer to several comparable transactions which
were consistent with external sources of information.
As at 31 March 2022, in the opinion of the management, the money lending business will not be commenced in
the foreseeable future, as a result, impairment losses for goodwill of approximately HK$440,000 (2021: Nil) was
made for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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24. INVENTORIES
2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

3,527
428
23,597

3,168
223
23,512

Less: allowance for inventories

27,552
(4,001)

26,903
(2,995)

23,551

23,908

The Group’s inventories are stated at cost less allowance for inventories.
Allowance for inventories of approximately HK$996,000 (2021: HK$8,000) was made for the year ended 31
March 2022.

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Prepayments
Rental deposits
Other deposits
Other receivables

Allowance for other receivables

Analysed as:
Current assets
Non-current assets

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

296
3,522
5,525
6,277
7,056

405
1,776
3,975
1,022
1,293

22,676
(86)

8,471
(883)

22,590

7,588

18,169
4,421

3,613
3,975

22,590

7,588

The Group allows a credit period of 0 to 30 days to its customers for its trade receivables.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The customers of the Group would usually settle payments by cash, EPS or credit cards. For EPS and credit
card payments, the banks will normally settle the amounts received, net of handling charges, a few days after
the trade date. The trade receivables balance mainly represents payments that are not yet settled by banks.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

0 – 30 days

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

296

405

As of 31 March 2022, none of trade receivables were considered as past due but not impaired (2021: Nil).

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Equity securities listed in United States, at fair value

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

2,885

–

The equity securities listed in United States are held for trading purpose and are measured at FVTPL in
accordance with HKFRS 9. The investments in listed equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity for
return through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values
of listed securities are based on current bid prices.

27. AMOUNT DUE FROM A SHAREHOLDER
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK BALANCES
The cash and bank balances of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:
2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

HK$
RMB
MOP
US$

21,017
148
699
33

2,143
103
1,454
–

Cash and bank balances

21,897

3,700

At the end of reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to a bank to secure
business credit card of the Group.

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Accruals and other payables

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

547
5,334

270
4,263

5,881

4,533

The credit periods on trade payables offered by suppliers are within 60 days.
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the date of receipt of goods is as follows:

0 – 60 days
Over 60 days

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

449
98

270
–

547

270
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Credit
package
HK$’000

Member
voucher
HK$’000

Beauty
package
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

85,675

68

1,223

86,966

At 1 April 2020
Receipts from sales of credit package,
member voucher and beauty package
Revenue recognised upon sales of
goods and beauty service rendered
Transfer
Exchange differences

32,975

–

588

33,563

(45,258)
(67)
–

(8)
–
6

(1,242)
67
–

(46,508)
–
6

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

73,325

66

636

74,027

Receipts from sales of credit package,
member voucher and beauty package
Revenue recognised upon sales of
goods and beauty service rendered
Exchange differences

31,662

–

775

32,437

(40,255)
–

(9)
3

(957)
–

(41,221)
3

At 31 March 2022

64,732

60

454

65,246

116/

Ocean Star Technology Group Limited
Annual Report 2021-22

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

31. LEASE LIABILITIES
Minimum
lease payments

Present value if minimum
lease payments

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

10,524
7,180

7,610
4,094

9,862
6,948

7,121
3,904

Less: Future finance charges

17,704
(894)

11,704
(679)

16,810
N/A

11,025
N/A

Present value of lease obligations

16,810

11,025

16,810

11,025

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities)

(9,862)

(7,121)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

6,948

3,904

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 5.25% to 15% (2021:
13% to 15%).
The lease liabilities of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$
RMB

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

16,737
73

10,146
879

16,810

11,025
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$27,053,000 (2021:
HK$23,869,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$9,507,000 (2021: HK$8,196,000) that will expire in five years. Other tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.
At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is
approximately HK$1,802,000 (2021: HK$2,383,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect
of these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

33. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of
shares

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

Amount
HK$’000

4,000,000,000

40,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Placing of new shares under general mandate (note (a))
Placing of new shares under general mandate (note (b))

480,000,000
48,000,000
102,000,000

4,800
480
1,020

At 31 March 2022

630,000,000

6,300

Notes:
(a)

On 15 April 2021, the Company and Valuable Capital Limited (the “Placing Agent”), entered into a placing agreement
in respect of the placing of 48,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of HK$0.86 per share under general mandate (the “First
Placing”). The Placing was completed on 30 April 2021. The net proceeds from the First Placing, after deduction of
share issue expenses of approximately HK$0.4 million, was approximately HK$40.88 million. Details of the First Placing
were disclosed in announcements of the Company dated 15 April 2021 and 30 April 2021.

(b)

On 1 March 2022, the Company and the Placing Agent, entered into a placing agreement in respect of the placing
of 102,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of HK$0.13 per share under general mandate (the “Second Placing”). The
Second Placing was completed on 28 March 2022. The net proceeds from the Second Placing, after deduction of share
issue expenses of approximately HK$0.21 million, was approximately HK$13.05 million. Details of the Second Placing
were disclosed in announcements of the Company dated 1 March 2022 and 28 March 2022.
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The capital structure of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’ equity.
The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling
assets to reduce debts. No change was made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing ratio. The Group’s gearing ratios at the end of
reporting period were as follows:
2022
HK$’000
Lease liabilities
Less: Cash and cash equivalents
Net debts
Total equity/(capital deficiency)
Gearing ratio

2021
HK$’000

16,810
(21,897)

11,025
(3,700)

(5,087)

7,325

6,603

(28,677)

(77%)

N/A

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange, it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group has maintained a sufficient
public float to comply with the GEM Listing Rules from the date of the Listing.
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34. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves
(a)

Share premium
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(b)

Capital reserve
Capital reserve of the Company represents differences between the consideration paid over the nominal
value of the share capital of subsidiaries as a result of the group reorganisation.

(c)

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note 4(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

(d)

Statutory reserve
In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the Group’s PRC subsidiaries’ articles of association, the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax as determined in accordance
with the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to PRC companies to the
statutory reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. The appropriation to the
reserve must be made before any distribution of dividends to equity holders. The statutory surplus reserve
can be used to offset previous years’ losses, if any, and part of the statutory surplus reserve can be
capitalised as paid-in capital provided that the amount of such reserve remaining after the capitalisation
shall not be less than 25% of the paid-in capital of the Group’s subsidiaries.
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company
2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

4
973
10
159

8
1,946
–
140

1,146

2,094

12,092
44
17,389

634
44
221

29,525

899

549
8,969
1,011

673
3,716
895

10,529

5,284

Net current assets/(liabilities)

18,996

(4,385)

Total assets less current liabilities

20,142

(2,291)

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

–

1,011

Net assets/(liabilities)

20,142

(3,302)

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Rental deposits

Current assets
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Amount due from a shareholder
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Lease liabilities
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (continued)
2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

Equity
Share capital
Reserves (note 35(b))

6,300
13,842

4,800
(8,102)

Total equity/(capital deficiency)

20,142

(3,302)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2022.

Xu Xue
Director

Tam Chak Chi
Director

(b) Reserves movement of the Company
Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Accumulated
losses
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

34,250

(38,145)

(3,895)

–

(4,207)

(4,207)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Placing of new shares under general mandate
Share issue expenses
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year

34,250
53,040
(626)
–

(42,352)
–
–
(30,470)

(8,102)
53,040
(626)
(30,470)

At 31 March 2022

86,664

(72,822)

13,842

At 1 April 2020
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant capital commitments (2021: Nil).

38. LEASE COMMITMENT
The Group entered into short-term leases for retails stores during the reporting period. As at 31 March 2022,
the outstanding lease commitments relating to these retails stores is approximately HK$537,000 (2021: 378,000).

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other than those related party balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

(a) Transactions
The Group had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

Consultancy and advisory fees paid to a beneficial owner
of the Company

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

–

448

(b) The emoluments of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Fees
Other emoluments
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

498

349

1,887
36

1,738
39

1,923

1,777

2,421

2,126
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table set forth below is the detail changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.
Lease
liabilities
HK$’000
At 1 April 2020
Commencement of new tenancy agreement
Cash flow
COVID-19 Related rent concessions received
Finance lease charges
Exchange differences

21,177
3,498
(13,154)
(1,416)
818
102

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Commencement of new tenancy agreement
Cash flow
COVID-19 Related rent concessions received
Finance lease charges
Exchange differences

11,025
16,613
(11,410)
(399)
958
23
16,810

At 31 March 2022

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows
Within financing cash flows

These amounts relate to lease rental paid.
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41. SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Registered/
issued and
paid up capital

Percentage of
ownership
interest

Principal activities
and place of
operation

Wish Enterprise Limited

The BVI

2 ordinary shares
@US$1 each

Direct 100%
(2021: direct 100%)

Investment holding, Hong Kong

Glory Unique Limited

The BVI

2 ordinary shares
@US$1 each

Direct 100%
(2021: direct 100%)

Investment holding, Hong Kong

Ocean Star Technology Investment Hong Kong
Limited

HK$10,000

Direct 100%
(2021: N/A)

Inactive, Hong Kong

My Heart Bodibra Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Retail sales of lingerie products,
Hong Kong

My Heart Factory Limited

Hong Kong

HK$5

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Design and manufacture
of lingerie products and
provision of lingerie alteration
service, Hong Kong

All Rich HK Investment Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Inactive, Hong Kong

Bodibra Beauty Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Provision of beauty services,
Hong Kong

Excellent Goldenfield Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Investment holding, Hong Kong

Xianyu (Hongkong) Trading Limited Hong Kong

HK$1

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Inactive, Hong Kong

Dynasty Investment (HK) Limited

HK$10,000

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Inactive, Hong Kong

Hong Kong
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41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Registered/
issued and
paid up capital

Percentage of
ownership
interest

Principal activities
and place of
operation

My Heart Bodibra Lingerie (Macau) Macau
Limited

MOP25,000

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Retail sales of lingerie products,
Macau

The PRC
華心思製衣（深圳）有限公司
Huaxinsi Zhiyi (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.*
(“Hua Xin Si”) (note)

Registered and
paid up capital:
RMB1,000,000

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Design, manufacture and sales
of lingerie products, the PRC

心心芭迪貝伊內衣（深圳）有限公司 The PRC
Xin Xin Badibeiyi Lingerie (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.* (“Xin Xin”) (note)

Registered:
RMB1,000,000
Paid up:
RMB600,000

Indirect 100%
(2021: indirect 100%)

Retail sales of lingerie products,
the PRC

Name

*

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

The English translation of company names in Chinese are for identification purpose only.

Note: Hua Xin Si and Xin Xin are wholly-foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC.

42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 19 June 2017, written resolution of the sole shareholder of the Company was passed to conditionally
approve and adopt a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) to recognise and motivate the
contributions that eligible participants have made or may make to the Group.
The Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 19 June 2017 will remain in force for a period of ten
years from its effective date to 18 June 2027. Particulars of the Share Option Scheme of the Company are set
out on pages 58 to 59 of the Company’s annual report.
No share option has been granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its effective date and
up to the end of the reporting period.
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(a) Outbreak of COVID-19
After the COVID-19 outbreak in the first quarter of 2022, a series of precautionary and strict control
measures have been and continued to be implemented across the globe. The Group is paying close
attention to the development of, and the disruption to business and economic activities caused by, the
COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on the financial position, cash flows and operating results
of the Group. Given the dynamic nature of the COVID-19 outbreak, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of its impacts on the Group’s financial position, cash flows and operating results at
the date on which these financial statements are authorised for issue.

(b) Rights issue
On 17 June 2022, the Company proposes to implement the rights issue on the basis of one rights share
for every two existing shares held by qualifying shareholders at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per
rights share, to raise gross proceeds of approximately HK$31.5 million, by way of the rights issue of up to
315,000,000 rights shares to the qualifying shareholders. The estimated net proceeds from the rights issue
after deducting all necessary expenses will be approximately HK$30.6 million.
Details of the Rights Issue were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 17 June 2022.

44. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements are approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23
June 2022.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS
2022
HK$’000
Revenue
(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax (expense)/credit
(Loss)/profit for the year and
attributable to owners of the
Company

Year ended 31 March
2021
2020
2019
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

2018
HK$’000

46,587

53,431

62,529

72,875

79,165

(18,669)

4,425

(46,839)

(24,323)

(5,040)

(136)

(724)

–

(95)

3,716

18,805

3,701

(46,839)

(24,418)

(1,324)

2022
HK$’000

2021
HK$’000

2019
HK$’000

2018
HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

28,617
66,875
(81,941)
(6,948)

As at 31 March
2020
HK$’000

30,330
31,394
(86,497)
(3,904)

38,386
41,992
(104,300)
(8,364)

52,004
66,502
(102,083)
(602)

15,385
123,930
(97,421)
(1,437)

Net assets/(liabilities)

6,603

(28,677)

(32,286)

15,821

40,457

Total equity/(capital deficiency)
attributable to owners of the
Company

6,603

(28,677)

(32,286)

15,821

40,457
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